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AFRICAN UNION FINANCIAL RULES  
 
Preamble 

 
The Assembly of the African Union,  
 
RECALLING Decision EX.CL/Dec.784(XXIV) of January 2014 where the Executive 
Council adopted the African Union Financial Rules and Regulations in order to align 
financial management of the Union to the International Public Sector Accounting 
Standards; 
 
FURTHER RECALLING Decision Assembly/AU/Dec.687(XXX) of January 2018 
requesting the AU Commission to update the AU Financial Rules and Regulations 
taking into account the newly adopted Golden Rules and mechanisms for the 
involvement of the F15 on budgetary and financial issues of the Union; 
 
NOTING Decision EX.CL/Dec.1008(XXXIII) urging the PRC to consider the 
amendment of the AU Financial Rules and Regulations as well as the AU Staff 
Regulations and Rules to clearly define and demarcate the roles and responsibilities 
of the elected officials from those of the Organ’s Secretariats; 
 
CONSIDERING that the Financial Rules govern the broad financial management of 
the Union;  
 
CONSIDERING that various reform decisions of the Policy Organs impact the 
Financial Rules, which together with emerging issues call for its revision in alignment 
with international best practices;  
 
Adopts these Financial Rules of the African Union: 
 
 
PART I: PRELIMINARY 
 

Rule 1  
Definitions 

 
1. In these Rules, unless otherwise specifically provided: 

 
i. “Accounting Officer” means the chief executive officer of the Union, 

legal representative of the Union and who is also the Chairperson of 
the African Union Commission with ultimate accounting authority for all 
resources of the Union. 

ii. “Accountable Advance” means disbursement (transfer) of funds that 
are advanced to a staff member or an official on conditions that he/she 
will expend the funds for approved purposes only, account to the Union 
for expended funds, and return to the Union by a specified date any 
portion of funds that is not expended or accounted for.  
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iii. “Advances” means cash outflow to be paid back in full or accounted 
for based on prior agreed upon terms and conditions as stipulated in 
Staff Regulations and Rules 

iv. ‘’Appropriation” means the total amount approved by the Assembly 
or delegated authority for specified purposes for the budget period, 
against which commitments may be made for those purposes up to the 
amount so approved; 

v. “Assembly” means the Assembly of Heads of State and Government 
of the Union; 

vi. “Asset Reserve” refers to general ledger account established to 
account for assets acquired through AU procurement, donations and 
changes in the value of assets as a result of revaluation; 

vii. ‘’Bank Account” means an account of the Union held with a financial 
institution; 

viii. ‘’Beneficiary” means the eligible entity whose application for grant has 
been accepted by the AU to perform specific action; 

ix. “Board of External Auditors” means the African Union Board 
established to discharge the functions under Rule 97 of these Rules; 

x. “Board of Survey” means the Board established under Rule 78 to 
recommend the disposal of assets of the Union;  

xi. “Budget” means the estimates of revenue and expenditure of the 
Union adopted by the Assembly or delegated authority, for specific 
purposes related to the activities of the Union, for a defined period; 

xii. “Budgetary Commitment” means a legally binding obligation on the 
Union’s part arising from a written contract or other written agreement 
entered into by the Union that is expected to result in the disbursement 
of the Union’s financial resources;  

xiii. “Cash Imprest” means cash maintained by an Office of the Union for 
cash payments under specific circumstances where the banking 
system is not available or practical to be used.  

xiv. "Cash Equivalent” shall include cheques, irrevocable letters of credit 
and other similar financial instruments that are short-term, highly liquid, 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value; 

xv. “Cash Reserves” means cash component of revenue reserve which is 
maintained up to three (3) months to meet operational budget 
requirements; 

xvi. “Chief Controlling Officer” means the Deputy Chairperson of the 
Commission and who shall be responsible for administration and 
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finance of the Commission and overall coordinator of all Controlling 
Officers of the Union; 

xvii. “Chief Financial Officer” (CFO) means Director of Finance 
Directorate of the AU Commission solely responsible for receiving, 
disbursing, accounting for and reporting the financial resources of the 
Union;  

xviii. “Constitutive Act” means the Constitutive Act of the African Union; 

xix. “Commission” means the African Union Commission which is also 
the Secretariat of the Union; 

xx. “Competent Authority” means any person who lawfully acts on 
behalf of the Accounting Officer and who are Heads of AU organs and 
institutions, based full time in the duty station or Head of secretariat of 
Organs and Institutions of the Union, who are full time salaried 
employees, where applicable, with delegated authority to handle 
administration and finance of their respective Organs and Institutions, 
and who shall be accountable to the Accounting Officer of the Union.  

xxi. “Contribution” means all resources, including in-kind, provided by the 
Member States, Development Partners and other relevant stakeholders 
in support of the Union’s mandate; 

xxii. “Contribution-in-kind” shall mean resources of goods, services or 
property received at minimal or no cost to the Union; 

xxiii. “Controlling Officer” means Heads of other Organs and institutions, 
who are based full time in the duty station or Heads of Secretariat of 
Organs and Institutions of the Union, who are full time salaried 
employees, as applicable, with delegated authority to handle 
administration and finance of their respective Organs and Institutions, 
and who shall be accountable to the Accounting Officer;  

xxiv. “Deficit’’ means excess of expenses over revenue; 

xxv. “Deputy Chairperson” means the Deputy Chairperson of the African 
Union Commission;  

xxvi. “Development partner” means an entity or country that has availed 
resources, either in the form of cash or in kind to the Union for 
purposes of assisting the Union in its programs and operations; 

xxvii. “Disbursement” means the payment of cash from a fund or an 
account; 

xxviii. “Duty station” means a place of posting where an employee carries 
out his/her duties;  

xxix. “Elected Officials” means an official of an Organs of the African 
Union, elected and/or appointed by the Policy Organs;  
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xxx. “Ex-Gratia Payment” means payment made without contractual 
obligations to do so; Rule 62 of FR; 

xxxi. “Expenditure/Expense” means decrease in potential economic 
benefits or services during the reporting period in the form of outflows 
or consumption of assets or incurrences of liabilities that result in 
decreases in net assets; 

xxxii. “Executive Council” means the Executive Council established under 
Article 5 of the Constitutive Act comprising the Ministers of Foreign 
Affairs or External relation of Member States of the Union; 

xxxiii. “F15” means the Committee of Fifteen (15) Ministers of Finance of 
Member States of the Union; 

xxxiv. “F15 Technical Experts” means the Committee of Experts of F15. 

xxxv. “Financial Control” Means the procedures and policies by which the 
Union monitors and controls the direction, allocation, and usage of its 
financial resources  

xxxvi.  “Finance Officer” means an officer appointed by the Accounting 
Officer/Controlling Officers who shall be responsible for the accounting 
transactions in a finance office of the Union; 

xxxvii. “Financial Year” means one (1) financial year beginning from 01 
January and ending 31 December of the same year; 

xxxviii. “Financial Rules” means these Financial Rules;  

xxxix. “Golden Rules” means the set of Rules adopted by the Assembly vide 
Decision Assembly/AU/Dec.687(XXX) to provide a framework for 
financial management and accountability principles at the African 
Union; 

xl. “Grant” means a direct contribution, by way of financial support, in 
order to finance an action intended to achieve specific objective(s) of 
the Union; 

xli. “Imprest Advance” means cash advance given to a staff member, in 

respect of approved expenses that an officer may incur in the course of 

official travel or for purposes of facilitating workshops and other official 

activities of the Union and to be accounted for upon completion of the 

said activity; 

xlii. “Imprest System” refers to an accounting system for paying out cash 
and subsequently replenishing at the end of the specified period; 

xliii. “Indirect costs” means costs incurred by the Union as a function of 

and in support of activities and programmes that cannot be traced 

unequivocally to specific activities and programmes for example; staff 
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costs and any other direct inputs to the programme, including 

administrative costs; 

xliv. “Institution” means entities other than Organs established and 
financed by the Union; 

xlv. “Internal Programmes and Budget Committee (IPBC)” means the 
Committee responsible for coordinating the planning and budgeting 
processes within the Union as established under Rule 16 of these 
rules; 

 
xlvi. “International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS)’’ are a 

set of accounting standards issued by IPSAS Board for use by public 
sector and which the AU has adopted for the preparation of its financial 
statements is an accounting framework adopted by African Union for 
the preparation of its financial statements;  

xlvii. “Joint Contribution” means a form of co-financing of an event 
including meetings, conferences, summits or projects, whereby the 
parties partner and jointly contribute to the same contract value or 
event(s) cost based on the cost allocations agreed;  

xlviii. “Obligation” means engagement, such as a contract, agreement or 
undertaking that has been entered into, involving a liability against the 
resources of the current financial year or a future period; 

xlix. “Officials” means any elected or politically appointed persons, or 
where applicable non-elected members of AU organs; 

l. “Organ” means an Organ of the Union as defined in the Constitutive 
Act and any other institutions of the AU that is designated with the 
status of an Organ; 

li. “Peace Fund” means a special fund established under Article 21 of 
the Protocol Relating to the Establishment of the Peace and Security 
Council of the Union to finance operational peace and security 
activities;  

lii. “PRC” means the Permanent Representatives Committee of the 
Union; 

liii. “Procurement” means the formal process of acquisition of goods, 
works or services; 

liv. “Programme Manager” means any officer duly appointed by the 
Accounting Officer/Controlling Officers who is personally responsible 
and accountable for the implementation and management of 
programme(s) within a Unit, Division, Directorate, Department, 
Institution or Regional Office; 
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lv. “Reserves” include accumulated surpluses of the Union. This 
comprises both cash and non-cash reserves, including receivables that 
can be converted into cash as may be applicable; 

lvi. “Reserve Fund” means cash, and non – cash reserves comprising 
cash reserves and Asset reserves; 

lvii. “Revenue” means inflow of economic benefits during the financial 
year that results in an increase in net assets or equity;  

lviii.  “Receivables” means amounts owed to AU by Member States, Staff, 
Other Officials and third parties; 

lix. “Special Account” means a bank account for monies not being part of 
the appropriations but administered by the Union on behalf of 
contributors for specific activities;  

lx. “Special Funds” means resources with related accounts held by the 
African Union and available only for specific purposes; 

lxi. “Staff Member” means a person employed by the Union under terms 
and conditions defined and provided for in the Staff Regulations and 
Rules; 

lxii. “Sub-delegation” Sub-delegation is a legal institutional arrangement 
between AU and its implementing entities for implementation of results 
oriented projects, where implementation tasks are effectively delegated 
by the Contracting Authority to a Sub-Delegatee; 

lxiii. “Surplus” means excess of revenue over expenses; 

lxiv. “Trust Funds” means funds held by the Union on behalf of other 
entities; 

lxv. “Union” means the African Union established by the Constitutive Act; 

lxvi. “Unliquidated Commitment” means valid financial commitments 
outstanding that do not satisfy the delivery principle of Expense 
recognition at the end of a given financial period; 

lxvii. “Unutilised Financial Resources” means all financial resources of 
the Union not spent during the course of the financial year to which 
they relate; and 

lxviii. “Working Capital Fund” means the fund established under Rule 34 of 
these Rules. 

2. These definitions are supplemented by the terms used under the International 
Public Sector Accounting Standards. 

 
Rule 2  

Scope and Purpose 
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 The purpose of these Rules is to:- 
 

a) define the fundamental principles and conditions of prudent financial 
management of the resources of the Organs and Institutions of the 
Union; and 
 

b) lay down the general principles for financial and resource management 
which shall govern the effective, efficient and economic utilization of the 
resources of the Organs and Institutions of the Union. 

 
Rule 3  

Applicability and Authority 
 

1. These Rules shall govern the financial administration and management of the 
resources of the Organs and Institutions of the Union except where there are 
specific mandatory provisions to the contrary. 
 

2. The Accounting Officer may issue appropriate administrative directives 
establishing procedures and instructions for the proper administration of these 
Rules.  
 

3. In the application of these Financial Rules, all staff and officials of the Union 
shall be guided by the principles of effective and efficient financial 
management. 

 
 

PART II: ACCOUNTABILITY AND RESPONSIBILITY 
 

Rule 4  
General Responsibilities of Officers of the Union 

 
1) The Accounting Officer, Chief Controlling Officer, Controlling Officers, 

Competent Authority, Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Finance Officers, or other 
staff members including, Programme Managers, Directors of Departments 
and Directorates, Heads of Divisions, Heads of Regional and 
Representational Offices responsible for the budgetary and financial 
management of the Union, shall be held personally and pecuniary liable for:-  

 
a) implementation of the measures and decisions they take in the execution 

of their functions; 

b) any negligence resulting in financial loss; 

c) commitments on a service which cannot be completed with funds 
authorized for the service in the Budget resulting in excess 
expenditure/Expense and/or losses; and 

d) violation of these FR and any other administrative instructions related to 
it. 
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2) All Officials and staff members of the Union handling the funds of the Union 
shall be obligated if found liable, in accordance with the SRR, to fully 
reimburse the Union for the losses incurred. 
 

3) Finance Officers of the Union should always safeguard the interests of the 
Union in carrying out their official duties. 
 

4) In the implementation of these Financial Rules, the Chief Controlling Officer, 
Controlling Officers and Competent Authorities shall be accountable to the 
Accounting Officer.  

 
Rule 5  

Accounting Officer 
 
1. The Accounting Officer shall: 

 
a) be responsible for the administration and enforcement of these Rules; 

b) assume the overall responsibility for the administrative operations to 
ascertain the solvency of the Union, and the settlement and incurring of 
expenses;  

c) have the ultimate authority excluding loans to enter into commitments 
and to make disbursements chargeable to the resources of the Union, 
which shall strictly be in accordance with the appropriations made in the 
budget of the Union; 

d) grant a written authority to incur expenses and make commitments 
chargeable to the budget in accordance with the appropriations made in 
the budget of the Union;  

e) Personally or through his or her delegate, be responsible for reviewing 
and approving all financial processes, as well as, prescribing and 
arranging for the maintenance of financial records of the Union; and  

f) be responsible and accountable to Executive Council. 
 
2.  The functions of the Accounting Officer, Chief Controlling Officer, Controlling 

Officer and those of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) shall not be exercised 
by one and the same person.  

 
Rule 6  

Chief Controlling Officer and Controlling Officers 
 

1. There shall be a Chief Controlling Officer who shall have the following 
functions: 

 
a) Handle the day-to-day administrative operations of the Commission; and  

b) Through written delegated authority from the Accounting officer, be in 
charge of coordinating the execution of controlling officers in the 
Administration and finance of their respective organs and institutions. 
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c) The Controlling Officers shall consult the Chief Controlling Officer in 
discharging the administrative and financial matters of their organs and 
institutions. 
 

2. The Controlling Officers shall: 
 

a) handle the day-to-day administrative operations of the respective Organs 
and Institutions of the Union; and 

b) through written delegated authority from the Accounting Officer, be in 
charge of administration and finance of their respective Organs and 
Institutions of the Union. 

 
3. All staff members and officials of the Union shall be responsible to their 

respective Controlling Officers for the regularity of their actions in the course 
of their official duties. 

 
Rule 7  

Functions of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 
 
1. The Director of Finance Directorate of AU Commission shall be the Chief 

Financial Officer (CFO) of the Union and within delegated authority from the 
Accounting Officer shall: 
 
a. be the receiver and the paymaster of the Union;  

b. receive revenue in accordance with the written order to collect, drawn up 

by the Accounting Officer or his/her designated official;  

c. effect payments regularly in accordance with the written order to pay and 
contracts or agreements signed by the Accounting Officer or his/her 
designated official;  

d. provide policy guidance regarding how Cash, Cash equivalents, 
Property, Plant and Equipment are acquired, controlled and managed; 

e. assist in the implementation of these FR;  

f. supervise and guide the day-to-day financial management activities of 
the Union in accordance with the Union policies, these Rules, relevant 
procedures and decisions of the policy organs;  

g. advise on changes and adjustments to these Rules, methods and 
procedures with a view to improving the Union’s financial management 
system;  

h. carry out regular consultations with the relevant Organs, Departments, 
Directorates or Representational and Specialized Offices on financial 
matters; 

i. Ensure conformity and compliance to financial rules and best practices; 
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j.   organize and coordinate the preparation and implementation of the 
budget and financial statements;  

k. Encourage and promote the awareness of best practices in the area of 
financial management; and 

l. carry out any duties he/she may be assigned in accordance with these 
FR.  

 
Rule 8  

 Financial Control Unit  
 

1. There shall be established an autonomous Financial Control Unit within the 
office of the Chief Controlling Officer and Controlling Officers. The Financial 
Control Unit shall be responsible for overall financial risk management and 
mitigation through undertaking the following: 
 
a) Ensure conformity and compliance to these Financial Rules, Staff 

Regulations and Rules, all related policies, and regulatory instruments; 

b) The Financial Control Unit shall be responsible for prior control and 
certification of expenditure and of any administrative act, having a 
financial impact on the African Union; 

c) The Financial Control Unit shall certify the services in accordance with 
the expenditure specifications before any payment based on financial 
risk management and mitigation policy; 

d) The Financial Control Unit shall develop standard operating procedures 
and manual on financial control, regarding financial operations of the 
Union and recommend for adoption by the Accounting Officer; and 

e) The Financial Control Unit shall undertake its functions independently 
and shall advise on all matters relating to good financial governance of 
the African Union. 
 

2.  The Accounting Officer, the Chief Controlling Officer and the Controlling 
Officer shall ensure that the independence of financial control is effective and 
respected. 

 
Rule 9  

Conflict of Responsibilities 
 
1. Any request, with financial implications, by the Accounting Officer may not be 

obliged by the Financial Control Unit and Chief Financial Officer when the 
amount exceeds the limit of funds allotted to the request or if there is any 
omission, gross error or irregularity in the request or supporting document. 
 

2.  In such a case, the Accounting Officer may overrule the objection raised by 
the Financial Control Unit and Chief Financial Officer (CFO). This instruction 
addressed to the Financial Control Unit and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 
shall be in writing, and shall be included among the supporting documents 
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relating to the said Expenditure/Expense. The effect of the request shall be 
that the Accounting Officer shall take responsibility for the expenditure or 
expense made by the Financial Control Unit and Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO).  
 

3. The same provisions in the preceding paragraphs one (1) and two (2) shall 
apply to the Chief Controlling Officer, Controlling Officers and respective 
Heads of Finance in the Organs. 
 

4. In such cases, the Financial Control Unit and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) 
shall insert a note as an annex to the financial statement. 

 
Rule 10  

Delegation of Authority 
 
1. The Accounting Officer may delegate his or her authority under these Rules to 

the Chief Controlling Officer, Controlling Officers, and where applicable, to the 
Competent Authorities of the Union as deemed appropriate. 

 
2. The Chief Controlling Officer, Controlling Officers or any Competent Authority 

may in turn delegate, through written administrative circular, the authority for 
specified aspects of these Financial Rules. These administrative instructions 
shall state whether the delegated official may assign aspects of this authority 
to other staff or officials. 
 

3. Delegation of authority does not absolve or otherwise relieve the delegating 
authority from his or her responsibilities under these FR and other applicable 
rules of the Union or prevent the authority from the performance of his or her 
functions. In the case of any such delegation, the delegating authority and the 
official or staff delegated remain jointly and severally responsible and liable for 
the proper exercise of the authority so delegated. 
 

4. In the implementation of these FR, the Chief Controlling Officer, Controlling 
Officers and competent authorities shall be accountable to the Accounting 
Officer. 
 

5. Where the Accounting officer or any competent authority elects to delegate 
authority, a Table of Authority (TOA) shall be maintained specifying the 
process, level of authority, approval and signatory thresholds for both the SAP 
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) and the banking protocols. 
 

6. All delegations of authority shall be in writing. 
 
 

PART III: BUDGET AND BUDGETARY PRINCIPLES 
 

Rule 11  
General Provisions 
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1. The financial year of the Union shall cover a period of twelve (12) months, 
starting on 1st of January and ending on 31st of December of the same year. 
  

2. Unliquidated commitment arising from events entered into prior to 31st 
December of the financial year, but which could not be completed before that 
date, shall be finalized within the first three (3) months of the following 
financial year.  
 

3. The appropriation for these unliquidated commitments shall be carried forward 
to the following year.  
 

4. The Union’s accounting procedures shall follow the Accounting Policies and 
Procedures Manual and shall be adhered to at all times unless they are 
incompatible with these Financial Rules.  
 

5. The financial resources of the Union shall be budgeted, sourced, managed 
and accounted for within the framework of these FR.  
 

6. The monetary unit of the Union shall be the United States Dollar (USD). The 
Executive Council may, upon the proposal of the Accounting Officer, adopt 
another monetary unit for the Union.  
 

7. The Accounting Officer shall abide by the Golden rules adopted by the 
Assembly as follows: 

 
a) Member states’ contributions should cover a minimum threshold of the 

budget; 

b) Revenue must be predictable; 

c) Budgets must be credible; 

d) Expenditure ceilings should be set; 

e) All expenditure must be authorised; 

f) Resource flows and transactions must be reliable and efficient; 

g) There must be institutional accountability; 

h) Reporting should be an integral part of the financial management 
process; and  

i) There should be a centralised process for engaging partners 

 

Rule 12  
Utilisation of the Financial Resources of the Union 

 
1. The financial resources of the Union shall be utilized in accordance with 

appropriations made in the budget of the Union. 
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2. The Budget of the Union shall provide the basis for authorization of the 
financial commitments, expense and revenue of the Union and determine 
their nature and amount.  
 

3. The financial resources from development partners shall be, after the 
consideration of the PRC, be declared and included in the budget of the Union 
for the years the funds are to be utilized. 

 
Rule 13  

Budget Preparation  
 

1. The Accounting Officer shall, in the course of preparing the budget, 
communicate the budget circular containing guidelines for preparing the 
budget, including communicating the expenditure ceilings to departments of 
the Commission and all other organs prior to the submission of their budget 
proposals. 

 
2. The Accounting Officer shall prepare a budget framework document which 

outlines the Union’s budget, and contains the following: 
 
a) an estimate of resources required to finance the operations of the Union; 

b) key priority areas of focus, mechanisms of implementation, results and 
means of their measurement; 

c) an explanation of the budget trend, highlighting factors affecting its 
movement; and 

d) the status of the Cash Reserves, and a statement of its utilization during 
the current or previous years. 
 

3. The Accounting Officer shall convene a pre-budget conference with the 
Internal Programmes and Budget Committee (IPBC) and the key stakeholders 
of the Union, to discuss the priorities and requirements for the financial year, 
guided by the framework document, before the preparation of the budget 
proposals. 
 

4. Each organ or institution of the Union shall make its separate contribution to 
the proposed annual budget, which shall cover all the activities, revenue and 
expenses of the organs and institutions of the Union for the financial year to 
which they relate and projections for the following two years in a consolidated 
form.  
 

5. The draft budget drawn up by the Accounting Officer shall be supported by 
reports on the implementation of the budget for the current and previous 
financial year as shall be defined in the AU Budget Manual. 
 

6. The Commission should prepare a results based budget in which the 
performance is measured against clear indicators in order to achieve a set of 
objectives and goals. The preparation and implementation of the results 
based budget shall be defined in the AU Budget Manual.  
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7. The proposed budget shall: 

 
a) be accompanied by the most recent Budget Performance Audit Report 

from the Office of Internal Audit; 

b) The budget shall be accompanied by a performance report  

c) include any information, annexes and explanatory statements as may be 
requested by or on behalf of the policy organs; and 

d) contain a brief statement on the main changes to the programme content 
in comparison with the previous financial period and such further 
annexes or statements as may be deemed necessary. 

 
8. The budget proposal shall be prepared and presented in accordance with 

sound financial management as set out in these Rules. 
 

Rule 14  
Presentation and Content of the Budget  

 
1. The proposed annual budget shall be prepared in accordance with the 

principles and format determined and adopted by the Executive Council.  
 
2. The Accounting Officer shall, on annual basis, table before the joint sitting of 

GSCBFAM and F15 Technical Experts, the annual budget with two years 
projection, that contains: 

 
a) revenue forecast of an annual budget with two years projection based on 

the preceding 3 years; 

b) estimated expenditure expected to be incurred per department of the AU 
Commission, respective AU Organs, institutions or any duly recognized 
spending unit during each year of the three-year period, differentiating 
between Operational, Programs, and Peace Support Operations; and 

c) illustration of a decreasing dependence on external funding for the 
Union’s programs and Peace and Security budgets. 
 

3. The annual budget submission, with two years projection shall contain, as 
may be appropriate, measurable objectives for each Organ’s or institution’s 
budget and shall be consolidated into one document. 
 

4. All expenses shall be classified and grouped under categories provided for in 
the Budget of the Union and shall be divided into four (4) Components:  
  
a) Staff Costs;  

b) Operating Expenses;  

c) Capital Expenditures; and  
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d) Programmes.  
 

5. For the purpose of comparison, the proposed budget shall be presented 
alongside the actual expenses for the preceding financial year and estimates 
for the following financial years.  

 
Rule 15  

Submission, Approval and Adoption of Budget  

 
1. The Accounting Officer shall submit the budget framework document, 

highlighting the priorities of the Union, to the Subcommittees on Programmes 
and Conferences and GSCBFAM of the PRC sitting jointly with F15 Technical 
experts for consideration of Budget priorities and proposals not later than 1st 
of November of each year. It shall, among others: 
 
a) articulate the Union’s strategic direction; 

b) state how resources will be mobilized to support the budget; 

c) highlight the arrangements for implementing the budget; 

d) propose a mechanism for monitoring and reporting on the budget; 

e) highlight the fiscal risks associated with budget implementation; and 

f) underline the mitigation measures associated with any perceived risks. 
 

2. The Sub-committees of Programmes and Conferences and of GSCBFAM of 
the PRC shall sit jointly with F15 Technical Experts to examine the detailed 
Budget not later than 31st May of each year. 
 

3. The Sub-committees and F15 Technical Experts shall jointly submit their 
recommendations to PRC for consideration. 
 

4. The PRC sitting jointly with F15 through their respective committees shall 
consider the detailed budget of the Union presented by the Accounting Officer 
before presentation to the Executive Council for consideration and approval.  
 

5. The F15 shall consider the budget and recommendations of the PRC on the 
budget of the Union and in turn make their recommendations to the Executive 
Council. 
 

6. In line with the delegation of the Assembly’s budget adoption powers and 
functions, to the Executive Council which will adopt the budget of the Union in 
June/July of every year during a dedicated budget session, which shall be 
composed of Ministers of Foreign Affairs and Ministers of Finance. 
 

7. The Budget thus approved, together with a list of assessed contributions, shall 
be immediately communicated to all Member States by the Accounting 
Officer.  
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8. In case the Assembly or its delegated authority has not approved the Budget 
of the Union before 1st January, the Executive Council may, in consultation 
with the PRC and the F15, authorize the Accounting Officer to disburse 
provisionally, one-twelfth of the Budget of the previous financial year until the 
new Budget is adopted.  
 

9. If, for any given reason, the authorization of provisional one-twelfths of the 
amount assessed to Member States contribution granted in accordance with 
paragraph 8 of this Rule, is not sufficient to cover the expenditure necessary 
to avoid a break in continuity of action by the Union, authorization may 
exceptionally be given to exceed the amount of the appropriations. 
 

10. The PRC shall thereupon, authorize the transfer of adequate funds from the 
Cash Reserve established under these FR. 

 
Rule 16  

Internal Programme and Budget Committee  

 
1. Subject to the provisions of Rule 13 (3), the Accounting Officer shall establish 

an Internal Programme and Budget Committee (IPBC) to coordinate the 
planning and budgeting processes within the Union. 
 

2. The IPBC shall comprise the following:- 
 

Deputy Chairperson -Chair of the 
Committee 

Commissioner in charge of Economic 
Development, Trade, Industry and Mining  

-Vice Chair of the 
Committee 

Director General  -Member 

Controlling Officers of Organs and Institutions -Members 

Director Conference Management and 
Publications (DCMP) 

-Member 

Director Partnerships Management and 
Resource Mobilization Directorate (PMRM) 

-Member 

Director in charge of Office of Strategic Planning 
and Delivery  

-Member 

Director in charge of Human Resources - Member 

Director of Finance -Member/ 
Secretariat 

 
3. The Chairperson of the Committee may co-opt any other person to the IPBC 

as deemed necessary.  
 

Rule 17  
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Functions of the Internal Programme and Budget Committee (IPBC) 

 
The IPBC shall be responsible for: 

 
(a) considering the budget framework of the Union; 

(b) assisting in the planning and preparation of budget guidelines for the 
Union for each financial year; 

(c) scrutinizing budget proposals from all Organs and Institutions of the 
Union; 

(d) consolidating and compiling the budget estimates of the Union, for 
submission to the Accounting Officer; 

(e) reviewing the performance of the budget of the Union in relation to the 
programmes; 

(f) recommending budget reallocations to the Accounting Officer; 

(g) considering and recommending a revised budget to the Accounting 
Officer; and 

 

h) Recommending the budget ceilings of the Union in line with the Golden 
Rules, provided that the ceiling of the programme budget shall not 
exceed the average of the three previous years.  

 
Rule 18  

Revisions or Adjustments to the budget  

 
1. The Accounting Officer shall, where necessary, in the course of the financial 

year, propose a revision or adjustment to the budget with justification to the 
Executive Council or any other duly delegated organ.  

 
2. Revisions or Adjustments may be proposed under the following conditions: 
 

a) Decisions of the Assembly or the Executive Council adopted after the 
approval of the budget that call for substantial modification to an existing 
budget.  

b) When in the opinion of the Accounting Officer, part(s) of the budget has 
become obsolete, or funding has proven insufficient, or the spending unit 
to execute the budget is incapacitated.  

c) When the Accounting Officer deems it necessary to propose new 
activities not covered by the approved budget which relate to: 

i) activities relating to exigencies that require immediate action of the 
Union;  
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ii) urgent activities which could not have been foreseen at the time of 
submission of the initial Budget;  

iii) special decisions taken by the Policy Organs of the Union; and  

iv) in case of changes in expenditure requirements associated with 
inflation and currency fluctuations. 

3. A request for supplementary budget shall be considered after the mid-year 
budget review and can only be made on exceptional circumstances where the 
funds reallocation within the approved budget is insufficient. The request must 
be made not later than 31st October of the year within which the 
supplementary budget is requested. The request must be submitted once a 
year for the entire Union. 
 

4. Proposals for revisions or adjustments to the budget shall contain detailed 
information including the source of financing and shall be accompanied by 
such information, annexes and explanatory statements as may be requested 
by or on behalf of the Executive Council, including: 
 
a) Mid-year performance report (technical and financial) of the current year 

under review; report on savings per department, organ and institution, 
based on a review of their financial execution rates. Where savings are 
realized shall be the basis for interdepartmental budget reallocation and 
cover supplementary budget requests. Only in special circumstances 
shall funds be drawn from the Reserve Fund to finance supplementary 
requests; and 

b) Report on status of Member States’ and Development Partners’ Funding 
contribution. 

 
5. The relevant subcommittees of the PRC, sitting jointly with F15 Technical 

Experts, shall examine the proposed revised budget to ensure that the 
narratives are in line with the Vision and Agenda of the Union and report on its 
deliberations to the Executive Council for consideration. 
 

6. Requests for supplementary budget should be made in exceptional 
circumstances and shall not exceed 15% of the initial approved budget of 
each organ and institution. 
 

7. No change in the budget that can lead to the increase of Member States 
contributions shall be effected without the approval of the Executive Council 
or its delegated Organ. 

 
Rule 19  

Reallocation (Virement)  

 
1) The request for reallocation of financial resources within the approved budget 

categories shall be authorized by the Accounting Officer. 
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2) The Accounting Officer may authorize reallocation of financial resources 
between budget categories up to (5%) of the operating budget of the Union to 
meet certain unforeseen, urgent and necessary expenditures, solely for the 
furtherance of the objectives of the Union, with subsequent notification to 
PRC.  
 

3) All reallocations between budget categories and above 5% of the operating 
budget shall be authorized by the PRC.  
 

4) Subject to availability of sufficient savings within the limit of funds 
appropriated under the relevant part of the Budget, the PRC may, at the 
request of the Accounting Officer, authorize transfer of funds, as the need 
arises. The request shall be supported by relevant documents and having 
regard to actual needs and requirements of the service. 
 

5) The PRC may, in exceptional cases, authorize transfer of funds appropriated 
for personnel emoluments or mission for the benefit of equipment or other 
expenses.  
 

6) All staffing costs shall be undertaken solely within the limit of funds allocated 
within that heading of the Budget of the Union. Any adjustments resulting in 
financial implications within the financial year, including those arising from 
recruitment, appointment and or promotion, shall also be within the budget 
heading and subject to prior approval of the Executive council or any other 
duly delegated Organ. 

 
Rule 20  

Reallocation of Resources between Organs and Institutions 

 
1.  Upon an agreement between organs and/or institutions, an organ or institution 

may make a request for reallocation of its resources to another organ or 
institution of the Union for the implementation of its specific mandate. The 
request for reallocation shall be submitted to the Chief Financial Officer and 
considered by the IPBC for recommendation to the Accounting Officer. 

 
2.  The Accounting Officer shall submit the request for reallocation of resources 

between organs or institutions, to the PRC Subcommittee on GSCBFAM 
sitting jointly with F15 for consideration and approval by the PRC.  

 
3.  The Accounting Officer and the Chief Financial Officer may in exceptional 

cases, request for reallocation of funds from one organ or institution to 
another in times of crisis. Such request shall be authorised by the PRC. 

 
 

 
PART IV: SOURCES OF REVENUE 

 
Rule 21  

Financial Resources of the Union  
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The financial resources of the Union shall include:  
 

a) annual statutory contributions made by Member States in accordance 
with the Scale of Assessment approved by the Assembly; 

b) revenue from any other financing modalities that may be agreed upon by 
the Union; 

c) revenue earned from commercial activities undertaken and fees earned 
from services rendered by the Union; 

d) voluntary contributions, donations and gifts; 

e) revenue from investments and advances; 

f) Development Partner Funds;  

g) Income from indirect administrative costs; 

h) Income from maintenance fund; and 

i) miscellaneous revenue from any other source other than the above.  
 

Rule 22  
Statutory Contributions from Member States 

 
1. Statutory Contributions from Member States shall be based on the Scale of 

Assessment developed and recommended to the Executive Council by the 
Ministerial Committee on Scale of Assessment and Contributions sitting jointly 
with F15 and approved by the Assembly 
 

2. All contributions by Member States shall be paid in the designated currency of 
the Union.  
 

3. The Accounting Officer shall report at each meeting of the Executive Council 
on the status of the contributions by the Member States. 
 

4. Sanctions imposed on any Member State that defaults in the payment of 
assessed contribution shall be implemented in accordance with Article 23(1) 
of the Constitutive Act and Rules of procedure of the Assembly.  

 
Rule 23  

Arrears in Contributions to the Budget 
 
1.  Statutory Contributions by Member States are due on 1st of January of the 

Financial Year. 
 
2.  The Commission shall send reminders to Member States on a quarterly basis. 
 
3. Sanctions against a Member State that defaults in the payment of its 

contributions to the budget of the Union shall be implemented in accordance 
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with Article 23 of the Constitutive Act and Rule 36 of the Rules of Procedure 
of the Assembly. 

  
4.   When a Member State is under sanctions for non -payment of its contributions 

as described in the preceding paragraphs, the sanctions may be lifted 
temporarily by the PRC if the Member State pays at least 50% of its 
outstanding arrears, provided that such payment is made at least thirty (30) 
days before the commencement of the session of the Executive Council 
preceding that of the Assembly.  

 
5.  The Assembly may consider written requests from Member States 

experiencing force majeure circumstances making them temporarily unable to 
pay their assessed contributions and take a decision, which shall be 
implemented by the Accounting Officer. 

 
5. Specific provision shall be made for outstanding contributions receivable from 

Member States in accordance with the Accounting Policies and Procedures 
Manual. 

 

Rule 24  
Voluntary Contributions, Gifts and Donations 

 
1. The Accounting Officer may accept a voluntary contribution, gift or donation, 

provided that the purposes for which the contribution, gift or donation is made 
are consistent with the policies, aims and activities of the Union. 
 

2. Collection of all direct or indirect contributions not authorized by the Executive 
Council, in goods, services, property received or denomination, shall be 
prohibited. Any officer perpetrating such collections shall be subjected to 
disciplinary measures, including recovery of such contributions in accordance 
with AU SRR.  
 

3. Similarly, a staff member shall be subject to disciplinary measures for having 
deliberately or otherwise, and for whatever reason, contributed to reduction in 
the amount of authorized income of the Union. 
 

4. The Accounting Officer shall arrange for the collection of financial 
commitments from host Governments in cash and/or in kind, towards the 
costs of Union Organs and Institutions should be deposited in the Union’s 
Account.  
 

5. Commitments in cash towards the costs of Union’s Organs and Institutions 
shall be reflected in the annual budget of the Union and failure to do so shall 
be subject to disciplinary action. 

 
Rule 25  

Revenue Generating Activities 
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1. The Executive Council shall authorize the Organs and Institutions of the Union 
to render services and to charge fees for such services.  
 

2. The Accounting Officer shall report to the Executive Council through the PRC 
on the revenue generating activities undertaken by the Union.  
 

3. No Organ shall charge another Organ for any service rendered except if it is 
for the purpose of recovery of a cost incurred directly as a result of rendering 
the service. 
 

4. Any Organ, Institution, Official or Staff Members that generates Revenue 
through the use of AU resources or their position and did not account for it nor 
disclose same shall be sanctioned in accordance with the SRR 

 
Rule 26  

Miscellaneous Revenue  

 
1. Miscellaneous revenue shall include all revenue other than the following:- 

 
(a) statutory contributions by the Member States to the annual budget; 

(b) direct refunds of expenditure made during the financial year; 

(c) revenue earned from the sale of goods and services rendered; and 

(d) contributions, grants and donations.  
 

2. All financial resources in respect of which no purpose is specified shall be 
treated as miscellaneous revenue and shall be reported in the financial 
statements of the financial year in which they are received. 
 

3. Refunds of expenses, which are charged in the same financial year, shall be 
credited to the same expense accounts, but refunds of expenses of prior 
financial years shall be credited to respective funds as miscellaneous 
revenue. 
 

4. Unless otherwise provided by the Executive Council, such revenue shall be 
administered in accordance with these FR.  

 
Rule 27  

Development Partner Funds  

 
1. The Accounting Officer may engage different Development Partners through 

legally enforceable agreements to finance certain activities provided such 
contributions are consistent with the policies, objectives and activities of the 
Union. 
 

2. In line with Rule 12 (3), financial resources from Development Partners shall 
be declared and included in the budget of the Union for the years the funds 
are to be utilized. 
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3. The Accounting Officer shall report at each meeting of the Executive Council 
on the status of the contributions by the Development Partners. 

 
Rule 28  

Indirect Administrative Cost Recovery  
 

1. The Accounting Officer shall develop a comprehensive Administrative Indirect 
Cost Recovery Policy that ensures transparency and accountability and 
reduces redirection of resources among projects and funds to support 
another. 
 

2. Administrative indirect cost recovery shall include the cost recovery rate 
applied to the implementation of programmes funded from Development 
Partners’ funds and declared on the basis of a flat-rate percentage as 
indicated in the Administrative Indirect Cost Recovery Policy. 
 

3. The cost recovery arising from implementation of programmes funded from 
Development Partners shall be embedded and credited to the Union’s budget, 
which shall be approved by the policy organs. 

 
4. The Accounting Officer shall submit a report to the Executive Council on the 

Administrative indirect cost recovery on a bi-annual basis. 
 
5.  Statement of administrative indirect cost recovery shall be submitted to the 

Board of External Auditors on an annual basis as part of the Annual Financial 

Statements.  
 
 

PART V: FUNDS AND RESERVES OF THE UNION 

 
Rule 29  

Funds of the Union 

 

1. For the achievement of the objectives of the Union, the following shall 
comprise the funds and reserves of the Union: 

 
a. Special Funds; 

b. Reserve;  

c. Working Capital Fund; 

d. Trust Funds; and 

e. Peace Fund. 
 

Rule 30  
Special Funds 

 
1. The Accounting Officer upon the approval of Policy Organs may establish 

special funds for specific purposes. 
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2. The Accounting Officer shall receive, on behalf of the Union, gifts, legacies, 

voluntary contributions and donations made to the Union by Member States 
and Development Partners into such established Special Funds.  
 

3. Transfers to the Special Fund may also come through direct annual budgetary 
allocations. 
 

4. The purpose and limits of any Special Fund shall be clearly defined by the 
Accounting Officer and shall be consistent with the purposes and objectives of 
the Union. 
 

5. The Special Funds shall be administered in accordance with these Rules. 
  
6. If, upon the completion of the activities, contributions to the Special Funds 

remain unexpended, they shall be treated in accordance with the agreement 
under which the contributions were made. 
    

7. The Accounting Officer shall prepare and submit audited reports on Special 
Funds annually to the Executive Council through the PRC.  

 
Rule 31  
Reserve  

 
1. The Accounting Officer shall establish the Reserve Fund of the Union which 

shall comprise of the following: 
 

(a)  Asset Reserves of the Union to account for fixed assets acquired 
through AU procurement, donations and changes in values of assets; 
and 

(b)  Cash Reserves of the Union to account for accumulated surpluses 
derived from normal operations. 

 
Rule 32  

Cash Reserves  
 

1. There shall be a general ledger account titled “Cash Reserves’’ where any 
surpluses/deficits shall be recorded after consideration of the decisions 
regarding other allocations. 
 

2. There shall be a cash reserve bank account in which cash component of 
revenue reserve shall be deposited and managed.  
 

3. The Cash Reserve shall maintain a minimum balance of at least three (3) 
months’ operating budget requirement of the Union. 
 

4. Upon meeting the provision for the three (3) months operation budget 
requirements, idle cash shall be invested in accordance with Rules 68 - 75. 
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5. Where the Cash Reserve is more than three (3) months operating budget 
requirement, any revision or adjustment to the budget that has been approved 
by the PRC shall first draw its cash from the Cash Reserves.  
 

6. The Cash Reserves shall also be utilized for the replenishment of the Working 
Capital Fund. 

 
Rule 33  

Asset Reserve 
 
The Accounting Officer shall establish an asset reserve general ledger account for 
the purposes of accounting for assets acquired through AU procurement, donations 
and changes in the value of assets. 
 

 
 
 

Rule 34  
Working Capital Fund 

 
1. A Working Capital Fund shall be established out of the Cash Reserves of the 

Union to provide money necessary to meet commitments pending receipt of 
contributions due from Member States. 
 

2. The Working Capital Fund shall not be less than one (1) month operational 
budget of the Union.  

 
3. Withdrawals from the Working Capital Fund may be made only for the 

purposes set in paragraph (1) above and on the basis of written authorization 
of the Accounting Officer.  
 

4. Withdrawals from the Working Capital Fund to finance budget allocations 
during any financial period shall be paid back into the Working Capital Fund 
as soon as collections of Member States’ contributions are received. 

 
5. Except in cases where such funds may be recovered from extra budgetary 

funds or other authorized sources, all withdrawals from the Working Capital 
Fund for unforeseen or extra-ordinary expenses or for any other purpose, 
shall be reimbursed by means of appropriations through budget revisions or 
adjustments.  

 
Rule 35  

Establishment of Trust Funds of the Union 
 
1. The Accounting Officer may, subject to the approval of the Executive Council 

on the recommendation of the PRC and the F15 Technical Experts, establish 
Trust Funds outside the Budget appropriations with respect to specific 
activities entrusted to the Union.  
 

2. The objectives of these Funds shall be determined by the Executive Council. 
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3. Separate accounts shall be opened for the Trust Funds referred to in 

paragraph one (1) above and the Funds shall be administered in accordance 
with these FR.  

 
4. The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) shall be responsible for keeping these 

accounts and shall submit financial statements relating to their management 
to the Accounting Officer who shall in turn report to the Executive Council 
through the PRC and the F15 Technical Experts. 

 
5. If such Trust Funds have remained dormant for a period of five (5) years, they 

shall be analyzed and may be closed from the books of accounts. Any 
adjustments, which arise subsequent to the closing of such Funds, shall be 
credited to the Cash Reserves. 

 
 

 
PART VI:   AU PEACE FUND 

 

The July 2016 AU Assembly of Heads of State and Government Decision 

(Assembly/AU/Dec.605 (XXVII)) requested the Chairperson of the Commission to 

implement all aspects related to the operationalization of the Peace Fund, in 

particular the legal, operational and financial rules. The PSC, Executive Council and 

Assembly endorsed the enhanced governance and management arrangements for 

the Peace Fund in July 2017.  

This Part VI provides the detailed financial rules that shall be applied to the Peace 
Fund in line with the following principles: 
 

i. predictability,  

ii. sustainability,  

iii. transparency,  

iv. flexibility,  

v. responsiveness,  

vi. timeliness,  

vii. effectiveness and  

viii. accountability. 

 
Rule 36  

Peace Fund 
 

1. In accordance with Article 21 of the Protocol Establishing the Peace and 
Security Council, a Peace Fund shall be established to provide financial 
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resources for mediation and preventive diplomacy, institutional capacity and 
peace support operations. The Peace Fund shall be financed through:  

 
(a) Statutory contributions from Member States to the initial endowment of 

US$400M; 

(b) Statutory contributions from Member States;  

(c) Contributions from Development Partners in line with Rule 27 of this FR; 

(d) Voluntary contributions from Member States; 

(e) Revenue from investment of the Peace Fund; 

(f) Contributions from African private sector and any other sources as may 
be approved by the Accounting Officer provided they are consistent with 
the objectives and principles of the Union. 
 

2. The financial resources of the Peace Fund shall be utilized in accordance with 
Appropriations made in the Budget of the Union. 
 

3. No expenses shall be charged to the Peace Fund without prior approval of the 
Executive Council, through the PRC.  

 
Rule 37  

Management of the Peace Fund 
 
1. The financial management of the Peace Fund and its Crisis Reserve Facility 

shall be governed by these Financial Rules and AU Peace Fund Policies and 
Procedural Manual.  

 
2. The governance structure of AU Peace Fund shall be determined by the 

decision of the Assembly and shall comprise of: 
 
(a) Board of Trustees; 

(b) Executive Management Committee; 

(c) Independent Evaluation Group (IEG); 

(d) Fund Manager; and  

(e) Secretariat of the Peace Fund  
 

3. The Accounting Officer and Chief Controlling Officer are members of the 
Executive Management Committee. 
 

4. Under delegated authority from the Accounting Officer and in accordance with 
Rule10, the Secretariat shall: 
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(a) carry out regular consultations with the relevant Organs, Departments, 
Directorates or Representational and Specialized Offices on financial 
and Budgetary matters relating to the Peace Fund; and 

(b) organize and coordinate in consultation and collaboration with the Chief 
Financial Officer, the preparation and the implementation of the Peace 
Fund budget.  

5. Under the authority from the Chief Controlling Officer the Secretariat will 
handle the day-to-day administrative operations of the Fund.  

 
6. The Executive Management Committee shall provide regular updates on 

financial management to the Board of Trustees and the IEG on the exercise of 
their financial authority towards the Peace Fund.  
 

7. Within the framework of Rule 54, the Executive Management Committee shall 

submit quarterly Peace Fund result-based budget performance reports to: 

a) The Board of Trustees for consideration and recommendation; 

b) The PSC for recommendation; and 

c) The PRC through the subcommittee of GSCBFAM jointly sitting with the 
F15 for consideration. 
 

8. A representative from the Secretariat shall be designated to be part of the 
Board of Survey when handling inventory, plant, property and equipment of 
the Peace Fund. The Secretariat shall make available the report of the Board 
of Survey to the Board of Trustees.  
 

9. The Board of Trustees is in a position of fiduciary responsibility towards the 
Fund and therefore plays an oversight and monitoring role towards the Peace 
Fund. Specifically, the Board shall: 
 
a. Recommend the Peace Fund’s Budget for each Financial Year subject to 

endorsement by the PSC and consideration by the Executive Council 
through the PRC; 

b. within the framework of Rule 18, review the Peace Fund’s budget 
periodically subject to endorsement by the PSC and consideration by the 
Executive Council through the PRC;  

c. Advise the relevant AU Policy Organs on a recommended level of the 
Crisis Reserve Facility;  

d. Advise the relevant AU Policy Organs on the recommended Peace Fund 
budget and balance for the Peace Fund for any given year; including 
minimum balances that should always remain in the Peace Fund; 

e. Consider the Internal and External Audit Reports and make standalone 
recommendations as appropriate to the relevant AU Policy Organs; and 
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f. Consider the Peace Fund’s financial reports and make recommendations 

as appropriate to the relevant AU Policy Organs. 
 

Rule 38  
Budget of the Peace Fund 

 
1. Within the framework of the budget preparations process outlined in Rule 13, 

the Secretariat shall prepare the budget for the Peace Fund. 
 

2. The budget for Peace Fund shall be prepared in line with the strategic 
priorities as defined by the PSC and within the annual fund allocation as 
recommended by the Board of Trustees 
 

3. All Expenses shall be classified and grouped under expenses as provided for 
in Rule 14 (4) and the AU Budget Manual and disaggregated by the following 
thematic windows of the Peace Fund: 

 
a. Mediation and Preventive Diplomacy: 

b. Institutional capacity: 

c. Peace-support operations: 
 

4. The proposed budget shall include all of the requirements for the AU’s Budget 
but in addition shall include the following: 
 
a. The results to be achieved under the Three thematic Windows of the 

fund and taking into account past performance; and 

b. The proposed level of the Crisis Reserve Facility and a statement of its 
utilization during the current or previous financial years. 

 
5. The Accounting Officer shall establish the Peace Fund Internal Budget 

Committee (PFIBC) to coordinate the planning and budgeting processes for 
the Fund. 
 
 
 

6. The Peace Fund Internal Budget Committee shall comprise the following: 
 

Accounting Officer Chair of the 

Committee 

Chief Financial Officer Vice Chair of the 

Committee 

Director of the Peace Fund Secretariat Member 
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Programme Officers of the PSC Secretariat Members 

Representatives from the PSC Secretariat Members 

Representatives from the Political Affairs and Peace 

and Security Department  

Members 

 
7. The Chairperson of the Committee may co-opt any other person to the Peace 

Fund Budget Committee as deemed necessary. 
 

Rule 39  
Crisis Reserve Facility 

 
1. There shall be established a revolving trust fund known as Crisis Reserve 

Facility in accordance with Article 21 (4) of the Protocol Establishing the 
Peace and Security Council.  

 
 
2. The purpose of the Crisis Reserve Facility shall be to:  

 
a) ensure rapid response of the AU during the start-up phase of new Peace 

Support operations and mediation and preventive diplomacy;  

b) fund expansion of existing peace support operations; and meet any 
unforeseen and extraordinary Expenditure requirements related to 
Peace Support operations and mediation and preventive diplomacy. 
 

3. The Secretariat shall present the proposed level of the Crisis Reserve Facility 
to the Board of Trustees.  
 

4. The Board shall recommend the proposed level of the Crisis Reserve Facility 
for adoption.  

 
5. The Secretariat shall present the recommended level of the Crisis Reserve 

Facility to the PSC for endorsement prior to consideration by AU Policy 
Organs for adoption 

 
6. The Accounting Officer shall prepare and submit statement of accountability 

of the Peace Fund to the PRC through the PSC. 
 

Rule 40  
Eligibility for Assistance from the Crisis Reserve Facility 

 
1. Assistance from the Crisis Reserve Facility shall be guided by the nature of 

emergency and goals expected to be achieved.  
 
2. The criteria to be fulfilled to qualify for assistance from the Crisis Reserve 

Facility shall be the following: 
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a) Decisions of the competent AU Policy Organs that fall within the scope of 

the Peace Fund but have been adopted after the approval of the budget 
and requires immediate implementation.  

b) Start-up costs of new missions authorized by competent AU Policy 
Organs until they have been absorbed into regular budgeting process of 
the Peace Fund;  

c) Decisions taken by the Chairperson of the Commission within the 
framework of Article 10 of the Protocol Relating to the Establishment of 
the PSC;  

d) The proposed activity shall be carried out expeditiously and effectively 
within the required time frame; and  

e) Such emergency assistance should aim at restoring a degree of stability 
and peace in the lives of the affected populations as quickly as possible. 

 
Rule 41  

Advances from the Crisis Reserve Facility 
 

1. Based on a decision of competent AU Policy Organs approving activities that 
fall within the scope of the Fund, the Accounting Officer shall be authorized to 
enter into commitments. The Accounting Officer shall notify the Board of 
Trustees, PSC and Executive Council through the PRC of any expenditures 
under the Crisis Reserve Facility, every six months.  
 

2. The total annual advances shall not exceed the approved Crisis Reserve 
Facility level.  
 

3. The duration of activities financed under the Crisis Reserve Facility shall not 
exceed 12 (twelve) months. 

 
4. Advances made from the Crisis Reserve Facility shall be reimbursed as soon 

as receipts of contributions from Member States are available for those 
purposes. 
 

Rule 42  
 Cash Reserves of the Peace Fund 

 
1. There shall be a General Ledger Account titled ‘’Peace Fund Cash Reserve’’ 

where any surpluses or deficits of the Fund shall be recorded after 
consideration of the decisions regarding other allocations. 
 

2. Notwithstanding paragraph (1) above, the Cash Reserve of the Peace Fund 
shall be in accordance with Rule 32 of this FR. 

 
Rule 43  

Bank Accounts Management of the Peace Fund 
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The Accounting Officer shall designate the African banks in which the funds of the 
Peace Fund shall be kept before and after transfer of funds to the Fund Manager for 
investment purposes. 
 
 

Rule 44  
Investments of the Peace Fund 

 
1. For purposes of this Rule, investments of the Peace Fund shall include all 

activities of committing money or capital of the Peace Fund into fixed deposits 
or to purchase financial instruments or other assets in order to gain profitable 
returns in the form of interest, income, or appreciation of the value of the 
instrument or asset ultimately for the benefit of the Peace Fund; 

 
2. The investments of the Peace Fund shall be managed by a Fund Manager; 
 
3. A Fund Manager shall be procured and charged with investment matters of 

the Peace Fund in line with Rule 68 of this FR and investment guidelines of 
the Peace Fund as approved by the Board of Trustees following consultations 
with F15; 

 
4. The Fund Manager shall hold the assets of the Peace Fund separate and 

apart from the assets of the Fund Manager and from any other assets 
maintained by the Fund Manager. The Fund Manager shall establish and 
maintain separate records and accounts to identify the assets of the Peace 
Fund. Cash in the Peace Fund not utilised for investment purposes shall be 
deposited in the Cash Reserve of the Peace Fund; 

 
5. The Fund Manager services shall be procured following an open competition 

and based on terms of reference approved by the Board of Trustees. 
 
6. The Fund Manager shall hold the invested assets of the Peace Fund separate 

and apart from the assets of the Fund Manager and from any other assets 
maintained by the Fund Manager and shall make use of a custodian 
appointed by the Fund Manager or the AUC on behalf of the Peace Fund. 

 
7. The Fund Manager shall establish and maintain separate records and 

accounts to identify the invested assets of the Peace Fund. 
 
8. All securities of the Peace Fund shall be deposited in accordance with the 

provisions of Rule 74 of this FR. 
 

Rule 45  
Peace Fund Procurement 

 
All procurement processes for the Peace Fund shall be governed by the AU 
Emergency Procurement Guidelines in order to accommodate rapid response 
requirements of the Peace Fund.  
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Rule 46  
Disposition of assets of peace support and emergency operations 

 
Following the liquidation of a peace support or emergency operations, equipment 
and other property shall be disposed of in accordance with the African Union Mission 
Start-up Guide and Liquidation Guidelines. 
 

Rule 47  
Peace Fund Financial Management Reporting 

 
1. The Secretariat shall submit to the Board of Trustees and AU Policy Organs 

through PRC, quarterly and semi-annual Peace Fund budget performance 
reports, indicating against each budget category, and line items: 
 
a. Budgetary appropriation;  

b. Actual expenditure;  

c. Commitments;  

d. Challenges; and 

e. Recommendations. 
 

2. The Accounting Officer shall monitor the overall performance of the Peace 
Fund budget as measured by performance indicators and delivery of results 
scheduled in the approved budget and shall report semi-annually to the PSC 
and the PRC Sub-Committee on Programs and Conferences. The report shall 
also be submitted through the PRC sub Committee on Programs and 
Conferences sitting jointly with F15 on program performance.  

 
3. In the performance report, the assessment of progress against objectives and 

expected results shall be provided, to the extent possible, including an 
implementation rate, an explanation for low implementation rate and for lack 
of progress. 

Rule 48  
Peace Fund Internal Controls and Financial Statements 

 
1. The Secretariat shall establish a risk management policy for the Peace Fund 

and maintain a risk-management system to manage and control financial and 
other types of risks, including the identification, evaluation and measurement 
of possible impact on the Peace Fund, and the selection and maintenance of 
various solutions to mitigate risk. 
 

2. The Secretariat shall maintain risk management registers to be updated on an 
annual basis.  
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3. The activities of the Peace Fund and its Secretariat shall be subjected to 
internal audit by the Office of Internal Oversight (OIO) and Board of External 
Auditors;  
 

4. The Accounting Officer shall make available all audit reports of the Peace 
Fund 
 

5. The Secretariat, shall in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer keep the 

books of accounts of the Peace Fund. 
 

6. Within the framework of Rule 93, the Secretariat shall prepare financial 
reports for the Fund.  
 

7. The Board of Trustees shall consider the audited financial reports of the 
Peace Fund and make their recommendations to the Executive Council 
through the PRC for consideration. 

 
Rule 49  

Peace Fund External Audit 

 
For any additional external audits in addition to those conducted under part XVII, the 
Board of Trustees shall consider The Terms of Reference of External Audits prior to 

the approval by the PRC through the Subcommittee on Audit Matters.  
 

 
PART VII: UTILIZATION OF FINANCIAL RESOURCES 

 

Rule 50  
Classification of Expenditures 

 

1.  All expenses shall be classified and grouped under categories provided for in 
the Budget of the Union as stipulated under Rule 14 (4).  

 
2.  Notwithstanding paragraph (1) above, such classification shall be:  
 

a) Staff Costs;  

b) Operating Expenses;  

c) Capital Expenditures; and  

d) Programmes.  
 
3. The detailed classification of the expenses categories shall be as enumerated 

in the chart of accounts and the Financial Policy and Procedural manual. 
 

Rule 51  
Appropriation of surplus/deficit 

 
At the end of each financial year, surplus/deficit shall be transferred to the Cash 
Reserve. 
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Rule 52  

Availability of Budget Appropriations 
 

1. Appropriations shall be available to meet commitments of the Union for the 
financial year to which they relate. 
 

2. The Appropriations shall remain available for three (3) months following the 
end of the financial year to which they relate in so far as they are required to 
discharge unliquidated commitment made and unsettled during that financial 
year. 
 

3. Unliquidated Commitment may be carried over only if it could not be made 
before 31st December in the financial year within which Appropriations were 
made for it, for reasons not attributable to the Accounting Officer, and where 
the preparatory stages are sufficiently advanced so that it is reasonable to 
expect the commitment to be finalised by 31st March of the following financial 
year.  
 

4. Unliquidated commitment shall be based on a contract, purchase order, 
agreement or other forms of undertakings or commitments by the Union or 
based on a liability recognized by the Union. Such commitments shall be 
supported by appropriate documentation. 

 
5. Notwithstanding Rule 11 (3), unliquidated commitments shall not be carried 

forward beyond three (3) months. After the financial year, if the commitment 
remains unliquidated beyond three (3) months and not exceeding 30th June, 
the Accounting Officer shall authorise the payment and charge it against the 
Cash Reserve after approval by the PRC or in the case of Development 
Partner funds after approval of the concerned Partner.  

 
Rule 53  

Authorisation to Expend Appropriations 

 
1. The Appropriations approved by the Assembly shall constitute authorization 

for the Union to incur commitments and make payments for the purposes for 
which the Appropriations were approved. 
 

2. The Accounting Officer shall: 
 

a. by administrative instruction lay down rules, guidelines, circulars and 
limits within which Controlling Officers may authorize expenses of the 
Union as provided in these FR; 

b. only note and draw up creditors’ claims for goods actually received and 
services actually rendered; and 

c. designate an officer who shall certify for services rendered.  
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3. All expenditures shall be justified by supporting documents. The required 
supporting documents for each type of expenditure shall be laid down in the 
Accounting Policies and Procedures Manual prepared under these FR. 
 

4. No expenditure shall be incurred on behalf of the Union without the prior 
written authorization of the Chief Controlling Officer, and where applicable, 
Controlling Officers.  

 
Rule 54  

Financial and Management Reporting 
 

1. All Controlling Officers shall prepare regular financial reports and submit them 
to the Chief Controlling Officer through the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) for 
consolidation and submission to the Accounting Officer. 
 

2. The Accounting Officer shall submit quarterly, semi-annual and annual budget 
performance reports to the PRC, through its subcommittee on GSCBFAM 
sitting jointly with F15 Technical Experts indicating against each budget 
category, and line items;-  

 
a) the budgetary appropriation;  

b) actual expenditure;  

c) commitments; and  

d) challenges and recommendations. 
 

3. The Accounting Officer shall monitor budget performance against indicators 
and report on a semi-annual basis to the Executive Council through PRC Sub 
Committees on Programs and Conferences and GSCBFAM sitting jointly with 
F15 Technical Experts. 
 

4. The budget performance report shall contain detailed assessment of progress 
against set objectives, expected results and implementation rate. Further 
explanation shall be provided for material differences between budget and 
actual expenditure including low implementation rate and lack of progress. 
 

5. The Accounting Officer shall publish on the AU website a statement of actual 
revenue (Member State contributions and external receipts) and expenditure 
with regard to the financing of the budget at the end of each Financial Year. 
 

6. The Accounting Officer may determine:  
 

a) the format of the statement of revenue and expenditure; and  

b) any other detail the statement must contain. 
 

7. The Accounting Officer shall serve the Controlling Officers of Organs and 
Directors of AU Commission departments that fail to comply with reporting 
requirements, with warning letters to caution and request for detailed 
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explanations for non-compliance. Punitive measures shall apply upon receipt 
of the third warning letter in accordance with the provisions of the Staff 
Regulations and Rules. 

 
Rule 55  

General Ledger Account  
 

A General Ledger shall be maintained to store and organize financial data used to 
create African Union’s financial statements. Transactions are posted to individual 
sub-ledger accounts, as defined by the African Union chart of accounts.  

 
 

PART VIII: MANAGEMENT OF FUNDS AND PAYMENTS 
 

Rule 56  
Management of Bank Accounts 

 
1. Opening and closing of AU Bank Accounts 

 
a) The Chief Controlling Officer and the Controlling Officers shall authorize 

the opening and closure of all bank accounts upon advice from the Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO); 

b) AU Bank Accounts shall be opened within the continent except for AU 
Representational/Liaison offices located outside the continent;  

c) A report shall be submitted annually to the PRC on the various accounts 
that have been opened; 

d)  An assessment of the creditworthiness of the banks shall be carried out 
by the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and the Financial Control Unit prior 
to opening an account;  

e) All bank accounts shall not be overdrawn.  
 
2. Bank Account Signatories 
 

a) The Chief Controlling Officer and Controlling officer shall appoint a panel 
of bank signatories who shall be grouped as Panel A and Panel B. Panel 
A shall only include mandatory signatories from the Directorate of 
Finance or Finance-Units of the Organs while Panel B shall include 
countersigning signatories from other Directorates or Units. 

b) Two signatures, one from each Panel as provided in paragraph one (1) 
above, or their electronic equivalent, shall be required on cheques and 
other withdrawal instructions, including electronic modes of payment. 

c) Bank signatory authority and responsibility is assigned on a personal 
basis and cannot be delegated. Bank signatories cannot exercise the 
functions of an approving officer. 



STC/Legal/Min 

Page 43 

 
 

 Draft Revised African Union Financial Rules - OLC – 13 June 2021 – Ministerial Meeting 

d) The Chief Controlling Officer and the Controlling Officer shall establish 
appropriate signing thresholds and arrangements for all bank accounts 
of the Union. 

 
3.  Bank Reconciliation 
 

a) At the end of every month, the Directorate of Finance of AUC or 
Financial Unit of an organ/institution shall draw up Bank Reconciliation 
Statements of all bank accounts of the Union. Any discrepancy shall be 
investigated so as to restore the situation with the least possible delay. 

b) Every month, all financial transactions, including bank charges and 
commissions, must be reconciled with the information provided by the 
bank. 

c) The reconciliation must be performed by the staff member not 
responsible for the receipt or disbursement of funds. If the staffing of an 
office makes this impracticable, alternative arrangements may be 
established in consultation with the Chief Financial Officer (CFO)  

 
4. Electronic Banking 

 
Electronic -banking may be established, where the bank offers such services, 
after a proper due diligence and approval by the Chief Controlling Officer and 
Controlling Officer. 

 
Rule 57  

Petty Cash 
 
1. The Chief Controlling Officer and Controlling Officer shall establish petty cash 

for the African Union Organs and Representational and Specialized Offices 
both in local and foreign currencies. The petty cash float/threshold shall be 
based on the determined operational requirements of each office. 

2. The petty cash management shall be in accordance with the Accounting 
Policies and Procedures Manual.  

 
3. The petty cash shall be maintained by authorized officer(s) on the imprest 

system and shall be kept in safe custody. 
 

Rule 58  
Cash Imprest  

 
1.  Under specific circumstances where there is a need to maintain certain 

amounts of cash, and/or to make cash payments where banking system is not 
available or practical to be used, the Chief Controlling Officer and Controlling 
Officer may approve the opening of cash imprest upon a proposal by the 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO). 

 
2.  The office cash imprest management shall be in accordance with these Rules 

and Accounting Policies and Procedures Manual. 
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Rule 59  
Accountable Advance  

 
1. A Staff Member may be authorized to take Accountable Advance in respect of 

approved expenses to be incurred in the course of official travel, facilitating 
workshops and other official activities of the Union. 
 

2. A Staff Member to whom Accountable Advance is given shall be fully and 
personally responsible and accountable for the money.  
 

3. All Accountable Advance shall be retired within seven (7) working days 
following the return of the responsible staff member from the official trip or 
upon completion of the official activity for which the Accountable Advance was 
authorized. The Accountable Advance retirement shall be supported by 
relevant documents as stipulated in the Accounting Policies and Procedures 
Manual. 

 
4. Accountable Advance not retired within the period provided under paragraph 

(3) above shall, without further recourse be recovered in full from the salary, 
wages and any other payments due to the responsible staff member from the 
next payroll date.  
 

5. Failure to retire Accountable Advance shall be considered a breach of 
obligation in accordance with the SRR. 
 

6. No further Accountable Advance shall be given to a Staff Member before the 
previous imprest is fully accounted for.  

 
Rule 60  

Carrying and Handling of Cash 
 

1. Only Finance Officers shall be allowed to carry cash for purposes of official 
activities where necessary. 
 

2. Any other staff member of the Union shall only carry cash upon written 
authority from the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), or Head of Finance of organs 
and institutions. 
 

3. Any other member of staff that is given the responsibility to carry cash in place 
of a Finance Officer shall have the same responsibility for the cash as the 
Finance Officer would have. 
 

4. The CFO shall, as much as possible, desist from authorizing the carrying 
and/or handling of large sums of cash. Where it is necessary to carry and/or 
handle large sums of cash above the ceiling as prescribed in the AU 
Administrative policy on travel and missions, the CFO shall resort to electronic 
transfers or make effective use the Union's Representational/Liaison Offices 
to carry out payment 
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5. The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) shall ensure the use of electronic cards or 
cash transfers, where practicable, in order to reduce risks associated with 

Cash in transit. 
 

Rule 61  
Advance Payments 

 
1. Except where normal commercial practice or where the interest of the Union so 

requires, no contract, grant or purchase order which requires payment(s) on 
account in advance of the delivery of goods or performance of contractual 
services shall be made on behalf of the Union. 
 

2. Whenever an advance payment is agreed to, the reasons shall be recorded and 
the payment conditions and modalities shall be clearly stated as stipulated in 
the Procurement manual, Sub-delegation and Grant manuals 

 
Rule 62  

Ex gratia Payments  
 
1. The Accounting Officer may make such ex gratia payments as are deemed to 

be necessary in the interest of the Union, provided that a summary statement 
of such payments shall be submitted to the Board of External Auditors with 
the financial statements. 

 
2. The Accounting Officer shall report on any ex gratia payments made at the 

ordinary session of the Executive Council following the payment. 
 
3. Notwithstanding the provisions in paragraph (1) and (2) above, such ex gratia 

payments shall be within reasonable limits in line with budgetary provisions.  
 

Rule 63 
Disbursements  

 
1.  All disbursements shall be made by electronic funds transfer, by wire transfer 

or by cheque except to the extent that cash disbursements are authorized by 
the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). 

 
2.  Disbursements shall be recorded in the accounts as at the date on which they 

are made. 
 
 
 

PART IX: PROCUREMENT 

 
Rule 64  

General Principles 
 

1. All procurements of the Union shall be conducted in accordance with the 
procedures, standards, processes and structures as set out in the 
Procurement Manual.  
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2. Equitable geographical distribution shall be considered for all procurement. 
 
3. Notwithstanding the above, exceptions may be given to procurement related 

to emergencies that require rapid response which shall be as stipulated in the 
AU Emergency Procurement Guidelines. 
 

4. The following general principles shall be given due consideration when 
exercising the procurement functions of the Union: 
(a) Value for money; 

(b) Fairness, integrity and transparency; 

(c) Effective competition; 

(d) Efficiency and Economy; and 

(e) The interests of the African Union. 
 

5. The Accounting Officer shall have ultimate authority and responsibility for all 
procurements of the Union. The Accounting Officer may delegate his/her 
authority to the Chief Controlling Officer and Controlling Officers of AU Organs 
and Institutions. 

 
6. The Controlling Officers shall be responsible to the Accounting Officer through 

the Chief Controlling Officer in the execution of their procurement 
responsibilities. 

 
7. All AU Organs and Institutions shall constitute relevant Procurement 

Committees and structures for the execution of procurement in line with the 
Procurement Manual. 
 

8. The Union shall exercise preferential procurement in favour of African 

suppliers.  
 

Rule 65  
Grants and Sub-Delegation  

 
1. The Accounting Officer shall develop Grant and Sub Delegation policies and 

procedures for the management of funds and joint contributions entrusted to 
implementing parties. 

 
2. The modalities for disbursements of funds shall be in accordance with all 

applicable AU Rules and Regulations. 
 
3. The Accounting Officer or his /her delegated authority shall approve all Grants 

and Sub-Delegations of the Union. 
 

Rule 66  
Publication of information on recipients and other information 
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1. The Accounting Officer shall develop a policy guidance on publication of 
information on recipients of funds and other information as part of the gGrants 
and Sub delegation manual. 

 
2. The following information shall be published, having due regard to the 

requirements of confidentiality and security, in particular the protection of 
personal data: 

 
a) name of the recipient; 

b) locality of the recipient, namely the address of the recipient when the 
recipient is a legal person; 

c) amount legally committed; 

d) nature and purpose of the measure. 
 

Rule 67  
Exclusion from Access to funding  

 
1. The Accounting Officer shall develop a policy guidance on exclusion from 

Access to funding as part of the Grant and Sub delegation manual. 
 
2. In order to protect the financial interests of the Union, the Union shall set up 

and operate an early-detection and exclusion system to facilitate the: 
 

(a) early detection of persons or entities which pose a risk to the financial 
interests of the Union; 

(b) exclusion of persons or entities which are excluded from access to 
funding; and 

(c) imposition of a financial penalty on a recipient in order to ensure a 
deterrent effect. 
 

3. The early-detection and exclusion system shall apply to: 
 
(a) participants and recipients; 

(b) entities in whose capacity the candidate or tenderer intends to rely or 
subcontractors of a contractor; 

(c) any person or entity receiving Union funds where the budget is imple-
mented indirectly (‘indirect management’); by entrusting budget 
implementation tasks to: 

(i) third parties or the bodies they have designated; 

(ii) international organisations or their agencies or persons entrusted 
with the implementation of specific actions. 

(d)  any person or entity receiving Union funds under financial instruments 
exceptionally directly (‘direct management’). 
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PART X: INVESTMENTS 
 

Rule 68  
Investments of the Union 

 
1. Investments of the Union shall include all activities of committing money or 

capital of the Union into fixed deposits or to purchase financial instruments or 
other assets in order to gain profitable returns in the form of interest income, 
or appreciation of the value of the instrument or asset ultimately for the benefit 
of the Union.  

 
2. The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) shall develop a treasury policy and 

guidelines, to be approved by the Accounting Officer, to manage financial and 
operational risks of investments of the Union.  

 
Rule 69  

Authority and Responsibility 
 

1. The Accounting Officer may, upon recommendation by the Investments 
Committee, make short-term investments of monies not needed for immediate 
requirements and shall make bi-annual reports to the PRC through its Sub 
Committee on GSCBFAM and F15, the investment period shall not exceed 
three (3) months and can be rolled over after investment committee approval; 

  
2. The Accounting Officer may, upon recommendation by the Investments 

Committee, make long-term investments, except as may be otherwise 
provided by the PRC and submit a report to the PRC through its 
subcommittee on GSCBFAM, in respect of each such fund or account and 
having regard to the particular requirements for liquidity of funds in each case.  

 
3. The Chief Controlling Officer may, within delegated authority, make and 

prudently manage investments as under paragraph two (2) above. 
 
4. The Chief Controlling Officer shall ensure that monies are invested in such a 

way as to place primary emphasis on minimizing the risk to principal funds 
while ensuring the liquidity necessary to meet the Union’s cash-flow 
requirements.  

 
5. All investment transactions, including the withdrawal of invested resources, 

require the authorization and signature of two officials designated for that 
purpose by the Chief Controlling Officer. 

 
6.   All investments shall be made through and maintained with recognized 

financial institutions designated by the Chief Controlling Officer on the advice 
of the Investment Committee. 

 
7. Without prejudice to the provision of Rule 32 on the Cash Reserves, the Chief 

Controlling Officer and Controlling Officer shall ensure that all monies of the 
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Union are placed in interest yielding accounts and no monies shall be left idle. 
However, consideration must always be given to the purpose of the funds and 
cash flow projections  

 
Rule 70  

Criteria for Selecting Investments 
 
The following criteria shall be considered in selecting investments of the Union;- 
 

a) safety and risk associated with an investment in terms of potential loss of 
principal or interest; 

b) liquidity or marketability of an investment or the ease with which it can be 
converted into cash where necessary in the interest of the Union; 

c) Earnings on investment, usually expressed as an annual Rate of Return 
that meet the investment policy;  

d) Selection on the basis of achieving the highest reasonable rate of return 
and where the investment is in accordance with the objectives and 
principles of the Union; and 

e) Preference shall be given to Investments in African Financial 
Instruments. 

 
Rule 71  

Investment Ledger 
 
1. Investments shall be recorded in an investment ledger maintained by the 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO), which shall show all the relevant details for 
each investment, including, face value, cost, date of maturity, place of deposit, 
proceeds of sale and income earned.  

 
2. The investment ledger shall be submitted annually to the Board of External 

Auditors. 
 

 

 

Rule 72  
Income and Loss on investments 

 
1. Income derived from investments shall be credited to respective accounts 

from which the funds were withdrawn for investment. 
 
2. Investment losses shall be borne by the account from which the principal 

amounts were obtained. 
 

3. The Accounting Officer shall report any investment losses or incomes to the 
PRC, quarterly. 
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Rule 73  
Investment Committee 

 
1. There shall be established an Investment Committee charged with investment 

matters, comprising the following Members:  
 

a) Deputy Chairperson of the Commission;    

b) Chief Financial Officer (CFO); 

c)  Head of Finance of AUDA-NEPAD;  

d) Representative from the Department of Economic Development, Trade, 
Industry and Mining with expertise in investments; 

e) Director of Office of Strategic Planning and Delivery (OSPD); and 

f) Office of Legal Counsel (OLC)  

.  
 

2. The Chairperson can invite any other members to the Committee as a 
resource person.  

 
3. The Chairperson of the Committee shall be the Deputy Chairperson of the 

Commission and the Directorate of Finance will be the secretariat. 
 
4. The Committee shall develop and adopt its rules of procedure. 

 
5. The Investment Committee shall, through the Commission, report annually to 

the PRC through its Sub Committee on General Supervision and Coordination 
on Budgetary, Financial and Administrative Matters (GSCBFAM ). 

 
Rule 74  

Custody of Securities 

 
1. Securities shall mean fungible, negotiable financial instruments that hold 

monetary value. 
 

2. All securities of the Union shall be deposited in any of the following- 
 

a) Duly appointed financial institutions; 

b) The safe deposit vaults maintained by a recognized financial institution 
designated by the PRC; or 

c) The safe vaults of the Union under the direct control of the Chief 
Controlling Officer. 

 
Rule 75  

Write-offs and Write-backs 
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1. The Accounting Officer shall develop a write off policy to deal with the write 
back and write off of debts and instruments. 

 
2. The PRC through its Sub Committee on GSCBFAM sitting jointly with F15 

shall consider requests from the Accounting Officer for write-offs of 
irrecoverable receivables and make recommendations to the Executive 
Council, for approval. 

 
3. The Accounting Officer shall request the Office of Internal Oversight to audit 

unclaimed payables for possible write-back. 
  

4. Any receivables/payables can only be considered for write off or write-back 
after 5 years.  
 

5. The PRC shall only consider such requests upon due validation by the Office 
of Internal Oversight.  

 
 

PART XI: SUPPLIES, PLANT, PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Rule 76  
Inventory, Plant, Property and Equipment 

 
1. The Union shall maintain records for Inventory and Property, Plant and 

Equipment for the purpose of accounting for the Union’s non-current assets. 
 

2.   The Accounting Officer shall establish such controls as necessary for the 
registration, utilization, safekeeping, maintenance, resale, disposal, sale or 
transfer of inventory and property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
for which records shall be maintained consistently with these FR. 

 
3. Physical verifications for existence of inventory and property, plant and 

equipment owned by or entrusted to the Union shall be made annually, or at 
such intervals as deemed necessary, to ensure adequate control over such 
assets, with the involvement of the Asset Valuation Committee of Member 
States (A10) 

 
4. The selection of items for which physical verifications shall be carried out shall 

be the responsibility of the Chief Controlling Officer and Controlling Officer 
who shall also establish the criteria for the conduct of physical verifications 
and for the asset valuation. The Chief Controlling Officer and the Controlling 
Officer may delegate the responsibility for the maintenance of asset records 
as well as the conduct of physical verifications to the Heads of the Offices or 
Units concerned. 

 
5. All inventory and property, plant and equipment received by Union shall 

immediately be inspected to ensure that the items comply with the 
specifications of the purchase contract and that their condition is satisfactory. 
As each item is received, an appropriate receiving report shall be prepared 
and the item shall be entered into the relevant property records of the Union. 
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6.   The cost or re-valued amount of the assets classified as property, plant and 

equipment shall be capitalized in the books of accounts of the Union and 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the expected useful lives according 
to IPSAS, as outlined in the Accounting Policies and Procedures manual. 
 

7. The disposal of inventory, property, plant and equipment or intangible assets 
which have become surplus to Union’s operating requirements or 
unserviceable, through obsolescence or normal wear and tear, shall be 
handled by the Board of Survey. 

 
8. Details of all assets donated to the Union shall be submitted to Board of 

Survey within one (1) month after receipt. 
 
9. Office of Internal Oversight shall undertake close-out audit on Organs and 

Institutions. A close-out audit shall be performed in accordance with Office 
Closure Guidelines. 

 
Rule 77  

     Assets Valuation Committee  

1. There shall be established an Asset Valuation Committee comprising of two 
representatives from each region appointed to provide a second opinion on 
the valuation of assets and safeguard the interests of the AU Assets with the 
support of an independent auditor. 
 

2. An Asset Valuer shall be procured through the AU procurement process to 
valuate all corporate assets of the Union for the consideration of the Asset 
Valuation Committee. 

 
Rule 78  

Board of Survey  
 

1.  The Chief Controlling Officer shall establish at every financial year a Board of 
Survey which shall be responsible for: 
a) Reporting on inventory, plant, property and equipment that have been 

issued for use and which are considered to be of no further use or value 
to the Union; 

b) Examining damaged, unserviceable or obsolete machinery, equipment 
and property; and 

c) Making appropriate recommendations in writing to the Chief Controlling 
Officer on the mode of disposal of equipment and property that is found 
to be damaged, unserviceable or obsolete. 

 
Rule 79  

Composition of the Board of Survey 
 
1. The Board of Survey shall be composed of the following members or their 

representatives: 
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i. Chief Controlling Officer – Chair of the Board;  

ii. Head of Finance of Organ - Member ; 

iii. Head of Operations Support Services of Organ - Member; 

iv. Office of Legal Counsel;   

v. The Head of Facilities Management Division; and  

vi. Chief of Procurement, (Resource Persons), (Director of Operations 

  
2. The Chief Controlling Officer shall serve as the Chairperson of the Board and 

the Facilities Management Division or Operations Support Services within the 
Organs shall serve as the secretariat. 
 

3. The Board shall develop and adopt its rules of procedure. 
 

4. The Board shall be guided by the Asset Management Policy and IPSAS. 
 

Rule 80  
Proceeds from Sale of Assets 

 
1. All proceeds from sale of assets and supplies of the Union shall be managed 

according to the provisions of these FR. 
 

2. All proceeds from disposal of assets of the Union, revenue from rental of other 
spaces, all incomes generated and sales of obsolete items shall be deposited 
into the maintenance fund and applied towards asset maintenance.  
 

3. Any sale of assets should be done after being widely advertised in the host 
Member State. 
 

4. Reports on sale of assets should be submitted to Office of Internal Oversight 
for audit verification. 

 
PART XII: FINANCIAL IRREGULARITIES AND LOSSES 

 
Rule 81  

Financial Irregularities 
 

1.  The following shall, inter alia, constitute financial irregularities in the context of 
these Rules: 

 
a) A written order for payment without service performed or any 

commitment made; 

b) Effecting Expenditure/Expense without being qualified to do so or without 
having been specifically delegated to do so; 

c) Effecting payments without proper authorization;  
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d) Effecting unauthorized Expenditure/Expense from the Budget of the 
Union; 

e) Ordering Expenditure/Expense without adhering to the proper 
procurement procedures of the Union; 

f) Acquiring an asset unrelated with the services of the Union; 

g) Allocation and use of an asset of the Union for personal purposes; 

h) Effecting Expenditure/Expense in excess of authorized funds, or without 
availability of funds; 

i) Recruitment and effective appointment of staff outside the approved 
structure or when financial provision has not been made in the Budget, 
or without authority to recruit; 

j)   Committing funds without reference to their initial approved purposes; 

k)   Purchases effected under conditions unrelated to the interests of the 
Union; 

l)   Unauthorised allocation of funds;  

m) Non-issuance of receipt in respect of money received for the Union; 

n)   Forgery or falsification of financial documents; 

o)   The intentional change in the reallocation of specific expense without 
authorization; 

p)   Failure to provide supporting documentation as necessary; and  

q)   Any other form of irregularities.  
 

 

Rule 82  
Handling Irregularities 

 
1. All Irregularities shall be reported to the Chief Controlling Officer, Controlling 

Officer and the Accounting Officer where applicable. 
 

2. The Chief Controlling Officer may call upon the Office of Internal Oversight or 
Board of External Auditors to make thorough audit investigations and draw up 
reasonable conclusions there from. 
 

3. The Chief Controlling Officer shall on the basis of the reported irregularities 
and the findings of the Office of Internal Oversight and or the Board of 
External Auditors submit the matter to the Disciplinary Board in compliance 
with all relevant and applicable Rules and Regulations of the Union. 
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4. All financial irregularities shall be treated as acts of misconduct within the 
meaning of the AU Staff Regulations and Rules and shall be dealt with in 
accordance with the disciplinary procedures set out therein. 

 
Rule 83  
Losses 

 
1.  The following shall, inter alia, constitute losses in the context of these FR: 

 
a) loss to the Union occasioned by theft, negligence or, inefficiency;  

b) improper payment of the Union's monies;  

c) fraudulent payment;  

d) misappropriation or any payment of monies which is not vouched;  

e) misuse, damage, destruction of supplies and other property; and 

f) loss of monies and securities of the Union. 
 

Rule 84  
Loss of Cash or Negotiable Instruments 

 
1. Loss of cash or negotiable instruments shall immediately be brought to the 

attention of the Accounting Officer who shall take the necessary measures 
including holding an investigation and where necessary have recourse to the 
law enforcement agencies for assistance. 

 
2. Except in so far as it may be deemed consistent with the promotion of the 

Union interests or good image, no amount due to the Union may be waived 
without the authorization of the Executive Council, in which case the persons 
or organization in debt, and the amount and the circumstances to justify the 
waiver shall be indicated. 

 
3. A staff member who loses cash or a negotiable instrument through negligence 

or fraud shall be personally and pecuniary responsible for the loss incurred. 
 

Rule 85  
Handling of Losses 

 
1. The Chief Controlling Officer shall after full investigation and consultation with 

the Accounting Officer, take appropriate action in the treatment of losses. 
 

2. The Chief Controlling Officer shall, whenever the need arises, appoint a 
Losses Committee and determine its composition and terms of reference.  
 

3. The Committee shall meet to consider all losses reported and make its 
recommendations to the Chief Controlling Officer.  
 

4. If, after investigation, it appears to the Chief Controlling Officer that any staff 
member who is or was an employee of the Union has caused a loss, such 
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staff member shall be required by the Chief Controlling Officer to indemnify 
the Union against such established loss. 
 

5. The Accounting Officer may request Member States to assist in the recovery 
process of losses as determined by the Losses Committee. 
 

6. Where accounting errors or omissions that have resulted in a loss to the 
Union are detected and confirmed, after thorough investigations of the 
accounts and if the Accounting Officer or his/her designated officer is 
ultimately unable to justify the loss, the person identified as responsible shall 
be surcharged with the amount of the said loss.  
 

7. The Accounting Officer may, on the recommendation of the Losses 
Committee, withdraw or vary a surcharge in respect of which a satisfactory 
explanation has been received or fresh evidence has come to light which 
negates wholly or partially the basis of the surcharge. A detailed report on 
such cases shall be submitted to the PRC.  
 

8. Depending on the gravity of the irregularity and the amount involved, the PRC 
may recommend to the Accounting Officer to refer the matter to the 
Disciplinary Board for additional disciplinary action.  

 
 

PART XIII: ACCOUNTING RECORDS 
 

Rule 86  
Responsibility 

 
The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) shall maintain the books of accounts and prepare 
the financial statements of the Union.  

 

 

Rule 87  
Accounting Policy 

 

1. The Union shall apply accrual basis International Public Sector Accounting 
Standards (IPSAS).  
 

2. The Accounting Officer shall recommend to the policy organs for adoption, 
relevant internationally accepted accounting standards, conventions and 
practices that may become applicable before implementation. 
 

3. The PRC may recommend any changes to the accounting policies of the 
Union to be approved by the Executive Council for adoption.  

 
4. No changes to the accounting policies shall be implemented in the course of 

the financial year.  
 

Rule 88  
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Retention, Accessibility and Disposal of Records 

 
1. All financial records of the Organs and Institutions of the Union shall remain 

the property of the Union. 
 

2. All accounting documents shall be made available to the PRC, the Board of 
External Auditors and any other entities designated by the Accounting Officer.  
 

3. The accounting and other financial records shall be retained for a minimum of 
ten (10) years and in an electronic format for fifty (50) years, after which, the 
Accounting Officer may authorize their disposal. 
 

4. Notwithstanding sub paragraph three (3) above, all personnel related physical 
records shall be retained for a minimum of fifteen (15) years and in an 
electronic format for fifty (50) years. 

 
 

PART XIV: INTERNAL CONTROLS 
 

Rule 89  
System of Internal Controls 

 
The Accounting Officer shall establish a system of internal controls, within all the 
Organs and Institutions of the Union, to ensure that; 

 
a) revenue is properly collected; 

b) expenses are valid and correctly authorized; 

c) revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are properly recorded and 
accounted for; 

d) financial and operating information is accurate and reliable; 

e) assets are safeguarded against loss or destruction; 

f) resources of the Union are employed and managed in an effective and 
efficient manner; 

g) there is no waste with respect to the utilization of the resources of the 
Union, and that outputs are consistent with those specified in the 
approved Budget;  

h) relevant international standards, Rules and Regulations, policies and 
procedures of the Union are being complied with; and 

i) Task based roles and segregation of duties.  
 

Rule 90  
Enterprise Risk Management Policy  
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1. The Accounting Officer shall establish a risk management policy for the Union 
and maintain a risk-management system to manage and control financial and 
other types of risks, including the identification, evaluation, measurement of 
possible impact of risks on the Union and the selection and maintenance of 
various solutions to mitigate risk. 
 

2. The Chief Controlling Officer and Controlling Officers of the Union shall, in 
accordance with AU Enterprise Risk Management Policy, develop appropriate 
risk management frameworks and maintain risk management registers to be 
updated on an annual basis. 

 
Rule 91  

Internal Audit Progress Committee  
 

1. The Accounting Officer shall establish an Internal Audit Progress Committee 
to assist him/her in the examination, evaluation and follow-up of the 
implementation of audit recommendations;  
 

2. This Committee shall be composed of Elected Officials, Directors and Senior 
Officers within the Union as nominated by the Accounting Officer; and 
 

3. Notwithstanding paragraphs (1) and (2) above, the work of this committee 
shall not interfere with the work of the Office of Internal Oversight and any 
other independent audit services that the Union may procure. 

 
Rule 92  

Office of Internal Oversight 

 

1. The Office of the Internal Oversight (OIO), shall in the exercise of its mandate, 
be governed by the African Union Internal Audit Regulations (Audit Charter).  
 

2. The mandate, responsibility, authority, independence and reporting of the 
Office of Internal Oversight shall be defined in the AU Internal Audit 
Regulations. 
 

3. The OIO shall serve as the secretariat of the PRC Sub Committee on Audit 
Matters. 

 
4. The OIO shall: 

 
a. be charged, inter-alia, with reviewing the internal controls, systems, 

processes and procedures of the Union to ensure they are effective and 
operate as intended; 

b. provide independent and objective appraisal of the activities of all 
Organs and Institutions in order to improve their administrative and 
operational efficiency and effectiveness, so as to add value to the Union;  

c. coordinate and have oversight over the internal audit functions of all 
Organs and AU Institutions; 
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d. utilize a systematic and disciplined approach to evaluate and improve 
the risk management, internal control systems and administrative 
processes compliant with relevant statutes, directives, guidelines, 
policies and governance standards; and 

 
5. Internal control findings identified by OIO shall be discussed with the auditee 

before issuing the final report. 
 

6. Each Organ and Institution shall be audited at least once every year.  
 

7. The OIO shall conduct an audit of the financial records of an office before 
transfer or separation of key staff members, including head of Organs or 
Institution, Controlling Officer, non-elected officials, political and special 
appointees, Head of Finance or any other staff member charged with 
managing the administrative or financial matters of the office.  

 
 

PART XV: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Rule 93  
Preparation of Financial Statements 

 
1. The Accounting Officer shall prepare financial statements of the Union for 

each financial year and submit to the Board of the External Auditors by 31st 
March of the following year. 
 

2. The Accounting Officer shall publish the audited AU Financial Statements 
including consolidated statements on the AU website after adoption of the 
Board of External Auditors’ report and approval by the Executive Council.  
 

3. The financial statements shall include: 
 

a) a statement of financial position; 

b) a statement of financial performance; 

c) a statement of changes in net assets/ equity; 

d) a cash flow statement; 

e) a comparison of budget and actual amounts; and 

f) notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes supporting the financial statements. 

 
 

PART XVI: Member States Oversight Mechanisms 
 

Rule 94  
Committee of Fifteen Ministers of Finance (F15) 
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1. The Committee of Fifteen Ministers of Finance (F15) or F15 Technical Experts 
shall: 
 
a) Participate in the preparation of the annual budget; 

b) Assume responsibility for the oversight of the African Union budget; 

c) Assume responsibility for the oversight of the Reserve; 

d) Assume responsibility for the oversight on financial matters of the Peace 
Fund and all Special Funds; 

e) Sit jointly with the Ministerial Committee on Scale of Assessment and 
Contributions to recommend the scale of assessment used to apportion 
the budget of the Union among its Member States and to consider the 
report on Member States’ status of contributions; 

f) Through its Committee of Experts, sit jointly with the PRC Sub-
Committee on Audit Matters and the PRC Sub-Committee on General 
Supervision and Coordination of Budgetary, Financial and Administrative 
Matters to consider the report of the Board of External Auditors; 

g) Perform any other functions as may be assigned by the Policy Organs. 
 

2. The Committee shall develop its rules of procedure which shall be adopted by 
the Assembly. 

 
 
 
 
 

Rule 95  
Permanent Representatives Committee 

 
1. The PRC shall consider all budgetary and financial matters of the Union in 

accordance with Rule 4 of the Rules of Procedure of the PRC. The PRC shall 
be responsible for: 

 
a) Examining all requests for transfer of authorized budgetary funds 

submitted by the Accounting Officer in order to cope with any urgent 
decisions or projects; 

b) Examining all unforeseen or unauthorized Expenditure/Expense which 
may be occasioned by the implementation of new and urgent decisions 
or projects; 

c) Considering the Budget Framework and budgetary estimates of the 
Union drawn up by the Accounting Officer;  

d) Submitting to the Executive Council the final draft budget proposals 
accompanied by its comments, observations and recommendations;  
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e) Advising the Executive Council on all other administrative, budgetary, 
financial matters;  

f) Considering the Financial Report of the Accounting Officer; 

g) Considering the Report of the Board of External Auditors and submit its 
written comments thereon to the Executive Council;  

h) Considering the Report of the Office of Internal Oversight and submit its 
written comments thereon to the Executive Council;  

i) Considering the Asset Valuation Report of the Accounting Officer and 
Asset Valuation Committee;  

j) Receive the report of the Accounting Officer on efforts made to mobilize 
resources from Development Partners on a bi-annual basis; and  

k) Such other duties as may be delegated by Executive Council. 
 

Rule 96  
Sub-Committee of PRC on Audit Matters 

 
1.  The PRC Sub-Committee on Audit Matters shall consider the report of both 

the Office of Internal Oversight and the Board of External Auditors, and any 
other inspection reports. 

 
2. The roles and responsibilities of the PRC Sub Committee on Audit Matters are 

set forth in its terms of reference. 
 

3. The PRC Sub-Committee on Audit Matters shall also have a key role in 
overseeing the work of the risk management function by considering and 
scrutinizing the processes.  

 
 

PART XVII: EXTERNAL AUDIT 
 

Article 97  
The Board of External Auditors 

 
1. The Board of External Auditors appointed by the Executive Council shall audit 

the accounts of the Union.  
 

2. The audit shall be conducted in accordance with Internationally Accepted 
Auditing Standards.  

 
Rule 98  

Composition of the Board of External Auditors 

 
1. The Board of External Auditors shall comprise of Heads of Supreme Audit 

Institutions from Member States of the Union appointed by the Executive 
Council; 
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2. In addition to members of the first tier, the Board of External Auditors shall be 
composed of five (5) members (one per region) to be appointed by the 
Executive Council and the members of the first tier on the scale of 
assessment to African Union Budget;  
 

3. Membership of the Board shall be open to all Member States, with the 
exception of those affected by sanctions in conformity with the relevant rules 
of the Union. 
 

4. The term of office of the Board shall be two (2) years. Board Members shall 
be eligible for re-appointment only once. The term of office of one (1) of the 
members shall expire at the end of every term. One (1) member should also 
remain to serve a second term for the purpose of institutional memory. 
Consequently, the Executive Council shall appoint four (4) members every 
two years. 
 

5. The Board shall elect a Chairperson from amongst its members to serve for 
its term of office. 
 

6. If a member of the Board ceases to hold office as Auditor-General (or 
equivalent title) in her/his country, the tenure of office in the Board of External 
Auditors is terminated and the person who succeeds her/him in his country 
becomes the new Board member to serve the rest of the term. A Board 
member may not otherwise be removed during her/his tenure except by a 
decision of the Executive Council.  
 

7. The members of the Board of the External Auditors shall be responsible to the 
Executive Council of the Union through the PRC. 

 
Rule 99  

Audit Terms of Reference 
 

1. The specific Terms of Reference of the Board of External Auditors shall be to: 
  

a) Carry out a posteriori external audit of the accounts of the Union;  

b) Ensure that the audit shall be conducted in conformity with the generally 
accepted auditing standards and guidelines and subject to any special 
directions of the Executive Council;  

c) Verify the manner in which the Accounting Officer and those answerable 
to him/her have performed their accounting duties and responsibilities;  

d) Formulate all proposals that are likely to increase the efficiency of 
methods of budgetary and financial management, including the 
accounting system and internal liaisons between the various authorities 
responsible for the framing, preparation and administration of the annual 
Budget. and 

 e)  perform specific examinations and issue separate reports as may be 
requested by the PRC.  
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2.  Honoraria shall be paid to Members of the Board and the assigned auditors 

for the services rendered as per the scale of the Union for such activities. 
 

Rule 100  
Authority and Independence of the Board of External Auditors 

 
1. The Board of External Auditors shall: 

 
a) be completely independent and solely responsible for the conduct of the 

audit of the Union; 

b) neither be influenced nor subject to the direction or control of any person 
or authority; 

c) during the course of the audit, have access to all accounts, documents, 
registers and records of the Union, and to all other supporting evidence 
of any of its transactions that the Board considers necessary to consult 
for the effective discharge of its duties; and 

d) have no power to disallow any items in the Accounts but shall draw the 
attention of the Accounting Officer for appropriate action on any 
transaction to which it entertains doubt as to the legality or propriety.  

 
2. Audit objections to inappropriate action or any irregular transactions arising 

during the examination of the accounts shall be communicated immediately to 
the Accounting Officer by letter from the Board.  

 
Rule 101  

Facilitation and Conduct of Audit 

 

1. The Accounting Officer shall provide the Board of External Auditors with 
records, information, books of accounts and any other documents and all the 
facilities the Board of External Auditors may require in the performance of the 
audit. 
 

2. Information which is classified as privileged or confidential and which is 
required by the Board of External Auditors for the purposes of an audit shall 
be made available on request. 
 

3. The Board of External Auditors shall: 
 

a. respect the privilege and confidential nature of any information so 
classified which is made available to the Board and shall not make any 
other use of the information except in direct connection with the 
performance of the audit; and 

b. inform the Executive Council of any refusal of information, classified as 
privileged, which in its opinion, was required for purpose of the audit. 
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4. Considering that the period for preparation of financial statements of each 
financial year should be completed by 31st March following the year end, 
auditing operations by the Board of External Auditors shall start during the first 
week of April.  
 

5. The final report on the auditing operations of the Union, containing the 
observations of the Board of External Auditors, shall be completed by 31 May 
each year and presented to the PRC for consideration before submission to 
the Executive Council at its Budget Session. 
 

6. The financial statements of the AU Commission shall be signed by the 
Accounting Officer and the Director of Finance and in the case of the other 
Organs, the respective Competent Authority and Head of Finance. 

 
7. Notwithstanding paragraph 1 above, the Accounting Officer shall prepare and 

submit to the Board of External Auditors the following statements, not later 
than three (3) months following the end of each financial year: 

 
a)  Summary of Investment losses, if any; 

b)  Summary statement of ex gratia payments; 

c)  Written off losses of cash, receivables and property; and 

d)  Summary statement of losses of cash and receivable. 
 

Rule 102  
Reporting by the Board of External Auditors 

 
1. The Board of External Auditors shall present its annual audit report to the 

PRC Sub Committees on Audit Matters and GSCBFAM sitting jointly with the 
F15 Technical Experts.  
 

2. The Chairperson of the Board of External Auditors or its delegated authority 
shall attend the meetings of the PRC whenever the report of the Board of 
External Auditors is being discussed.  
 

3. Refusal or delay in the submission of the Financial Statements by the 
Accounting Officer, shall be brought to the attention of the PRC by the Board 
of External Auditors.  
 

4. The PRC shall make appropriate recommendations thereon to the Executive 
Council.  
 

5. If the Financial Statements presented by the Accounting Officer meets with no 
objection, the Executive Council shall deliver a discharge to the Accounting 
Officer. 

 
Rule 103 (Adopted) 

Audit Opinion 
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1. The Board of External Auditors shall express an audit opinion on the Financial 
Statements of the Union. 
 

2. The opinion of the Board of External Auditors shall state whether:- 
 

a) financial statements present fairly the financial position as at the end of 
the financial year and the result of the operations for the period then 
ended; 

b) financial statements were prepared in accordance with International 
Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS); 

c) accounting principles were applied on a basis consistent with that of the 
preceding period; and 

d) transactions carried out in the financial year were in accordance with 
these Rules. 

 
3. The audit report and opinion of each organ shall be signed by the Chairperson 

of the Board of External Auditors. 
 
 
 

Rule 104  
Management Letter 

 
1. All audit findings included in the management letter shall be discussed with 

the auditee, before its submission to Policy Organs. 
 

2. The management letter of the Board of External Auditors shall state: 
  

a) the type and scope of the examination by the Board of External Auditors; 

b) matters affecting the finality or accuracy of the accounts including where 
appropriate: 

i)  information necessary to the correct interpretation of the accounts; 

ii)  any amounts which ought to have been received but which have not 
been brought to account; 

iii)  any amounts for which legal or contingent liability exist and which 
have not been recorded or reflected in the financial statements; and 

iv)  Expenses not properly substantiated, 

c) whether the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) 
are applied in a consistent manner, and where there are deviations, 
whether the deviations have a material impact and are disclosed in the 
notes to financial statements; 

d) other matters which should be brought to the notice of the Executive 
Council including: 
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i)  cases of fraud or presumed fraud; 

ii)  wasteful or improper Expenditure/Expense of the money or other 
assets of the Union, notwithstanding that the accounting for the 
transactions may be correct; 

iii)  Expenditure /Expense likely to commit the Union to unnecessary 
further financial commitment; 

iv)  any defect in the general system governing the control of receipts, 
disbursement or of supplies and equipment; 

v)  expenses not in accordance with the intention of the Executive 
Council, after making allowance for duly authorized transfers within 
the budget; and 

vi)  expenses not in conformity with the authority, which governs it. 

e) The accuracy or otherwise of the supplies and equipment record as 
determined by stock and examination of the records;  

f) Where appropriate, transactions accounted for in a previous year 
concerning which further information has been obtained or transactions 
in a later year where it seems desirable that the Executive Council 
should have advance knowledge: 

i)  The Board of External Auditors shall make such observations, 
findings and comments resulting from the audit, as it may deem 
appropriate. 

ii)   Whenever the scope of the audit is restricted or the Board of 
External Auditors is unable to obtain sufficient evidence, the Board 
of External Auditors shall refer to the matter in its report, clarifying 
the reason for its comments and the effect on the financial position 
and the financial transactions as recorded. 

iii)   The Board of External Auditors shall at an audit clearance meeting 
obtain explanation of any matter under observation before including 
such matter in the audit management report. The Board shall not 
conclude its report without first affording the Accounting Officer an 
adequate opportunity of explanation on the matter under 
observation. 

g) Status of prior year audit findings; 

h) Summary of audit adjustments indicating recommended accounting 
entries, as approved by the relevant Policy Organs of the Union; and 

i) Audit findings of the Board of External Auditors shall be structured under 
the following headings: Criteria, Observation, Recommendation and 
Management Comments. 

 
 

PART XVIII: REQUIREMENTS FOR DECISIONS 
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Rule 105  

Consideration and Adoption of Decisions  

 
1. Every Draft Decision tabled for consideration by any Organ of the Union shall 

be accompanied by a presentation of its financial implications, if any, before 
adoption.  

 
2. The Executive Council may only adopt decisions involving financial 

implications if the necessary funds have been availed or additional funding 
sources are secured. 

 

 

 

 

PART XIX: FINAL PROVISIONS 
  

Rule 106  
Interpretation 

 
1. The interpretation of these Rules shall rest with the Accounting Officer and the 

Legal Counsel.  
 

2. These rules shall be interpreted and applied alongside relevant AU treaties, 
decisions, rules, regulations, procedures and standards, including IPSAS. 

 
Rule 107  

Compliance and Sanctions for Breach of Rules  
 

1. All Officials and staff members shall comply with these rules and with any 
other Rules and Regulations, administrative instructions and procedures 
issued by the Accounting Officer in relation to these FR. 

 
2. Any Officials and staff members who contravenes or breaches these FR or 

any administrative instructions and procedures issued in relation to these FR 
shall be held personally and financially liable, and shall be disciplined in 
accordance with the relevant provisions of the SRR. 

 
3. Depending on the gravity of the breach and the size of the irregularity, in 

addition to the sanctions and disciplinary measures provided for in the SRR, 
where applicable, other sanctions could include waiver of immunity, 
investigation and prosecution according to the laws of an AU Member States 
that has jurisdiction .  

 
3. If a breach has been caused by an Official, the matter shall be referred to the 

Executive Council. 
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Rule 108  
Implementation and Institutionalisation of Rules 

 
1. For the purposes of implementation of these Rules, the Accounting Officer 

shall issue administrative instructions, guidelines, and procedures. 
 

2. The administrative instructions, guidelines, procedures issued by the 
Accounting Officer shall be in accordance with these Rules and other statutes 
of the Union. 
 

3. The Accounting Officer shall ensure that the administrative instructions, 
guidelines, procedures issued are properly implemented and complied with.  
 

4. Upon the adoption of these Rules, the Accounting Officer shall take the 
necessary measures to implement the provisions of the said Rules, which 
shall be made available to all the Staff Members, Officials and Member States 
of the Union.  

Rule 109  
Amendment of the Rules  

  
1. The Assembly may amend these Rules upon recommendation of the 

Executive Council.  
 

2. The Accounting Officer of the Union shall make proposals for amendment 
through the PRC and submit them to the Executive Council for consideration 
and approval. 
 

3. An amendment to these Rules shall not apply retrospectively.  
 

Rule 110  
Applicability 

 
These Rules shall supersede all provisions in existing Financial Rules and 
Regulations adopted in January 2014 and any other relevant existing Executive 
Council and Assembly decisions, Rules and Regulations of the Union that may 
conflict with provisions contained herein, upon the date of their adoption. 

 
Rule 111  

Effective date 
 
These Financial Rules shall come into effect upon adoption by the Assembly. 



AFRICAN UNION  UNION AFRICAINE

African Union Common Repository http://archives.au.int

Organs Council of Ministers & Executive Council Collection

2021-09-27

Fifth Extra-Ordinary Session of the

Specialized Technical Committee on

Justice and Legal Affairs (Ministerial

Meeting) 13 - 14 June 2021 Videoconference

African Union

DCMP

https://archives.au.int/handle/123456789/10340

Downloaded from African Union Common Repository


